UNIVERSITY OF GAZİANTEP GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL & APPLIED SCIENCES

MODELING TOBACCO CONTROL POLICIES: A CASE STUDY IN TURKEY

M. Sc. THESIS

IN

INDUSTRIAL ENGINEERING

BY

PINAR KOCABEY ÇİFTÇİ

JANUARY 2015

Modeling Tobacco Control Policies: A Case Study in Turkey

M.Sc. Thesis in Industrial Engineering University of Gaziantep

Supervisor Assist. Prof. Dr. Zeynep D. U. DURMUŞOĞLU

> by Pınar KOCABEY ÇİFTÇİ January 2015

©2015[Pınar KOCABEY ÇİFTÇİ]

UNIVERSITY OF GAZIANTEP GRADUATE SCHOOL OF NATURAL & APPLIED SCIENCES INDUSTRIAL ENGINEERING

Name of the thesis: Modeling Tobacco Control Policies: A Case Study in Turkey

Name of the student: Pınar KOCABEY ÇİFTÇİ

Exam date: 22.01.2015

Approval of the Graduate School of Natural and Applied Sciences

Prof. Dr. Metin BEDIR Director

Prof. Dr. Türkay DERELİ

Head of the Department

I certify this thesis satisfies all the requirements as a thesis for the degree of Master of Science.

This is to certify that we have read this thesis and that in our consensus opinion it is fully adequate, in scope and quality, as a thesis for the degree of master of Science.

Assist. Prof. Dr. Zeynep D. U. DURMUŞOĞLU

Supervisor

Examining Committee Members

Prof. Dr. Türkay DERELİ

Assist. Prof. Dr. Deniz VURUŞKAN

Assist. Prof. Dr. Zeynep D. U. DURMUŞOĞLU

Signan

I hereby declare that all information in this document has been obtained and presented in accordance with academic rules and ethical conduct. I also declare that, as required by these rules and conduct, I have fully cited and referenced all materials and results that are not original to this work.

Pınar KOCABEY ÇİFTÇİ

ABSTRACT

MODELING TOBACCO CONTROL POLICIES: A CASE STUDY IN TURKEY

KOCABEY ÇİFTÇİ, Pınar

M.Sc. in Industrial Engineering Supervisor: Assist. Prof. Dr. Zeynep D. UNUTMAZ DURMUŞOĞLU January 2015, 84 pages

Tobacco use has been one of the deadliest epidemics that threaten the public health of the world. Although it is a well known fact that this epidemic is preventable, the significant number of countries still have to face with the destructive effects of it. Turkey is one of these countries with relatively high tobacco consumption rate. This situation leads Turkey to apply policies that can take tobacco use under control. Turkey has performed considerable progress for tobacco control with the help of the applied policies. Even though the positive consequences of the applied policies for Turkey are apparent, we are still not sure which of themhave relatively higher effect to make tobacco usersthinking to quit. In this regard, the major objectives of this research thesis are (1) to model the tobacco control policies and effects of some other tobacco control associated factors that were investigated in Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) for Turkey (beliefs of people about damages of tobacco use on human health and health care providers' advices to quit smoking) using System Dynamics, (2) to analyze the effects of these policies and factors on current smokers in Turkey, and (3) to forecast the prevalence of tobacco use in Turkey for the year 2016. After system dynamics model has been setup, promising results have been obtained. The results indicate that beliefs of smokers about the damages of tobacco use on human health, taxation and anti-tobacco information policies are more effective factors on current smokers that make them thinking to quit smoking. Also, the results of the study point out that tobacco use ratio of Turkey in 2016 will decrease when compared to 2012.

Key Words: Tobacco, tobacco control policies, system dynamics, simulation.

ÖZET

TÜTÜN BIRAKTIRMA POLİTİKALARININ MODELLENMESİ: TÜRKİYE'DE BİR VAKA ANALİZİ

KOCABEY ÇİFTÇİ, Pınar

Yüksek Lisans Tezi, Endüstri Mühendisliği Bölümü Tez Yöneticisi: Yrd. Doç. Dr. Zeynep D. UNUTMAZ DURMUŞOĞLU Ocak 2014, 84 sayfa

Tütün kullanımı, dünya kamu sağlığını tehdit eden ölümcül bir salgın haline gelmiştir. Bu salgının önlenebilir olduğu iyi bilinen bir gerçek olmasına rağmen, çok sayıda ülke, hala bu salgının yol açtığı yıkıcı sonuçlarla yüzleşmek zorunda kalmaktadır. Türkiye yüksek tütün tüketim oranı ile bu ülkeler arasında yer almaktadır. Bu durum, Türkiye'yi tütün kullanımını kontrol altına almaya yardımcı olacak politikalar uygulamaya yönlendirmiştir. Türkiye, uygulanan politikaların yardımı ile tütün kontrolü konusunda büyük ilerleme kat etmiştir. Uygulanan politikaların olumlu sonuçlarının görünür olmasına rağmen, bu politikalardan hangilerinin tütün kullanıcılarına bırakmayı düşündürme konusunda daha etkili olduğundan emin değiliz. Bu açıdan, bu araştırma tezinin amacı 1) Türkiye Küresel Yetişkin Tütün Araştırma'sında yer alan tütün kontrol politikalarını ve tütün kontrolü ile ilişkili diğer faktörlerin (insanların tütünün insan sağlığına olan zararları hakkındaki inançları ve sağlık personellerinin tütün kullanımını bırakmaya yönelik tavsiyeleri) etkilerini sistem dinamikleri yöntemi ile modellemek, 2) modellenen politikaların ve faktörlerin Türkiye'deki tütün kullanıcıları üzerindeki etkilerini analiz etmek ve 3) 2016 yılında, tütün kullanımının Türkiye'deki durumunu tahminlemektir. Sistem dinamikleri modeli kurulduktan sonra, sonuçlar elde edilmiştir. Çalışma sonuçları tütün kullanıcılarını tütün kullanımını bırakmaya yönlendiren en etkili faktörlerin: kişilerin tütün tüketiminin insan sağlığına olan zararları hakkındaki ve inançları, vergilendirme tütün karsıtı bilgilendirme politikaları olduğunugöstermiştir. Ayrıca, 2016 yılında Türkiye'de tütün kullanım oranının 2012 yılına kıyasla düşüş göstereceği ön görülmüştür.

Anahtar Kelimeler: Tütün, tütün kontrol politikaları, sistem dinamikleri, benzetim.

To my beloved husband...

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my gratitude to my supervisor Assist. Prof. Dr. Zeynep D. UNUTMAZ DURMUŞOĞLU for her guidance and providing me with an opportunity to work such.

And, I am thankful for Prof. Dr. Türkay DERELİ for his encouragements and supports for my studies. I also would like to thank to the Assist Prof. Dr. Alptekin DURMUŞOĞLU for his individual views and suggestions.

Also, my special thanks should be for my good friends Research Assist. Selen YÜCESOY and Research Assist. Yunus EROĞLU.

I should also present deepest thanks to my beloved husband Emrah ÇİFTÇİ for his valuable help, support and unfailing patience.

Finally, I am very thankful to my parents and my brother for their unconditional love over the years.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACTv
ÖZETvi
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS
TABLE OF CONTENTS ix
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURESxii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS
CHAPTER 1- INTRODUCTION
1.1 General Remarks
1.2 Problem Statement
1.3 A Brief Description of the Model
1.4 The Relevance of the Thesis to Industrial Engineering7
1.5 Organization of the Thesis
1.6 Conclusion
CHAPTER 2- LITERATURE REVIEW
2.1 Introduction
2.2 Effects of Smoking on Health9
2.3 Tobacco Control
2.3.1 Taxation
2.3.2 Smoke-free Environment
2.3.3 Warning Labels
2.3.4 Anti-Tobacco Mass Media Campaigns
2.4 Tobacco Control Simulation
2.5 Conclusion
CHAPTER 3- BACKGROUND KNOWLEDGE
3.1 Introduction
3.2 Tobacco Use and Control History of Turkey

3.3 Global Adult Tobacco Survey	
3.3.1 GATS Application for Turkey	
3.3.2 GATS Results of Turkey	
3.4 Simulation	
3.4.1 System Dynamics	
3.5 Conclusion	
CHAPTER 4- SYSTEM DEFINITION	40
4.1 Introduction	
4.2 Used Software	40
4.3 Model Assumptions	41
4.4 Model Setup and Implementation	
4.4.1 Model Setup and Implementation	
4.4.2 Calibration of the Model	54
4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model	56
4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model4.5 Conclusion	56 56
4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model4.5 ConclusionCHAPTER 5-RESULTS & DISCUSSIONS	56 56 57
 4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model 4.5 Conclusion CHAPTER 5-RESULTS & DISCUSSIONS 5.1 Introduction 	
 4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model 4.5 Conclusion CHAPTER 5-RESULTS & DISCUSSIONS	
 4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model 4.5 Conclusion CHAPTER 5-RESULTS & DISCUSSIONS	
 4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model 4.5 Conclusion	
 4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model 4.5 Conclusion	
 4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model	
 4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model	
 4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model	
 4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model 4.5 Conclusion	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 The scientific publications that investigates the relation between
tobacco use and some specific diseases10
Table 2.2 The intermediated in a second in the discussion of the second
Table 2.2 The international treaties, conventions, and agreements that
directly or indirectly address tobacco use
Table 2.3 Smoke-free environment or second-hand smoke related
publications according to their focal place20
Table 3.1 Response and eligibility rates for 2008 GATS results
Table 3.2 The definition of the terms used in the formula of Household
Response Rate
Table 5.1 The number of current smoker who thought about quitting
ampling due to each of the tobasse control factors
smoking due to each of the tobacco control factors
Table 5.2 The number of people who use each of the quit attempt way63
Table B.1 Percentage of adults \geq 15 years old, by detailed smoking
status GATS Turkey 2008-2012
Table B 2 Percentage of adults >15 years old who made a quit attempt in
the past 12 months by selected demographic characteristics. GATS 2008
2012 of Turkey.
2012 of Turkey
Table B.3 Percentage of adults ≥ 15 years old who received health
care provider assistance in the past 12 months, by selected demographic
characteristics, GATS 2008, 2012 of Turkey81
Table B.4 Percentage of adults ≥ 15 years old who made a quit attempt in
the past 12 months and used various cessation methods for their last attempt,
by selected demographic characteristics, GATS 2008, 2012 of Turkey82
Table B.5 Percentage of adults ≥15 years old who noticed anti-tobacco
information during the last 30 days in various places, by selected demographic
characteristics, GATS 2008, 2012 of Turkey

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1 The percentage of tobacco use among adults in 2005	3
Figure 1.2 The main steps of the proposed model	5
Figure 1.3 The framework for the proposed model	6
Figure 2.1 Proportions of countries according to selected tobacco control policies of MPOWER for 2012	13
Figure 3.1 Cigarette sales 1925-2013 (billion sticks) in Turkey	26
Figure 3.2 Outline of tobacco activities of Turkey based on GATS, GYTS, health professionals survey and individual surveys	29
Figure 3.3 Approaches in simulation modeling on abstraction level scale	36
Figure 3.4 Stock and flow diagramming notation	38
Figure 4.1 Modeling types of AnyLogic	41
Figure 4.2 Stocks and flows of the presented model	45
Figure 4.3 The proposed model	48
Figure 4.4 The ranges of the calibrated parameters	56
Figure 5.1 The results of calibration experiment	58
Figure A.1 Distribution of retail taxes on tobacco for countries, 2012	77
Figure A.2 The number of places that countries applied smoke-free environment, 2012	77
Figure A.3 The size of warning labels that countries applied for tobacco	
products, 2012	78
Figure A.4 Anti-tobacco media campaigns applied with appropriate characteristics, 2012	78

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- WHO World Health Organization
- FCTC Framework Convention on Tobacco Control
- GATS Global Adult Tobacco Survey
- MoH Ministry of Health
- **TAPDK**Tobacco and Alcohol Market Coordination Committee
- SD System Dynamics
- GTSS Global Tobacco Surveillance System

CHAPTER 1- INTRODUCTION

1.1 General Remarks

Tobacco epidemic is one of the most serious reasons of health problems ending with death. Although, it is a preventable reason of death, total number of tobacco associated deaths reaches to nearly six million each year (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs339/en/). In addition, the statistics show that this number will exceed eight 2030 million by (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs339/en/). Correspondingly, the harms of tobacco use on human health cannot be ignored.

It is a known fact that tobacco use causes many diseases, harms nearly every organ of the body (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 2005). It increases the risk for diseases like myocardial infarction, stroke, arteriosclerosis, hypertension, pneumonia, chronic bronchitis(Pust et al., 2008). Thus, it becomes one of the most mortal addictions that threaten the public health of the world.

The damages of the tobacco use are not restricted with only health problems. There are also social, environmental and economic consequences of it for countries (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs339/en/). It increases the health care costs, productivity loses for adults, and reduces the quality of life and life expectancy (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 2005).

Although the negative effects of tobacco use are clear, it is still common all around the world. Figure 1.1 shows the prevalence of tobacco use at all over the world in 2005. Over 1 billion of the world population use tobacco currently (http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs339/en/).The number of the current smokers may give a clue for the possible future deaths unless enough precautions to prevent it are not taken. The current situation of tobacco use prevalence increases the importance of tobacco control for countries.

In order to decrease the prevalence of tobacco use and its destructive effects, several different tobacco control policies have been applied at governmental level all around

the world. Correspondingly, implementing effective control policies has become a vital issue in order to reach the defined targets of the governments. WHO developed the Framework Convention for tobacco control to protect the public health and regulations for provide new international cooperation(http://www.who.int/fctc/about/en/). This convention is the pioneering international public health treaty (http://www.who.int/tobacco/framework/background/en/) and the impact-based demand reduction measures for decreasing tobacco use set out in MPOWER (http://www.who.int/tobacco/surveillance/survey/gats/turkey/en/). MPOWER consists of six practical and achievable measures in order to help countries design policies and carry out (http://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/publications/brochure_2013/en/).

The six factor of MPOWER are:

- 1. Monitor the usage of tobacco and the tobacco control policies
- 2. Protect people from being second-hand smoker
- 3. Offer help to give up using tobacco products
- 4. Warn about the harms of tobacco
- 5. Enforce bans on tobacco promotion, sponsorship, and advertising
- 6. Raise taxes on tobacco

Turkey has relatively high tobacco consumption rate. In order to reduce high tobacco use rate, Turkey has applied various control measures. To accelerate the tobacco control activities, Turkey signed the FCTC in 2004 (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014) and made a big effort to progress at tobacco control. Thus, Turkey became the first country in the world to achieve all six MPOWER measures for tobacco control (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014).

Before MPOWER, in Turkey, more than 1 in 3 adults used tobacco (http://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/publications/brochure_2013/en/). The implementation of MPOWER measures has caused the reduction of smoking at Turkey (http://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/publications/brochure_2013/en/). Although the number of current smokers is still high when compared to several developed countries, the applied policies with the orientation of MPOWER have been helpful for taking tobacco use under control for Turkey. Since the positive

consequences of the applied policies are apparent, we are still not sure which of these policies have higher effect on Turkish society.



Figure 1.1The percentage of tobacco use among adults in 2005 (http://gamapserver.who.int/mapLibrary/app/searchResults.aspx)

At that point, the main purposes of this thesis are:

- To model tobacco control policies and other tobacco control associated factors those were investigated in the GATS for Turkey.
- To analyze the effects of these policies and factors on current smokers' opinions about quitting smoking in Turkey,
- To forecast tobacco usage ratio of Turkey for the year 2016 regarding the same policies and factors.

1.2 Problem Statement

Tobacco control policies have been applied for reducing the prevalence of tobacco use and damages by different countries all around the world. While some policies can be successful, others may fail to reach the desired targets. One of the main reasons of the failures may be the complexity and dynamism of the tobacco control systems.

Turkey is one of the heavily affected countries that have to face with tobacco epidemic. As seen in figure 1.1, Turkey had over 36.5% smokers in 2005. The

relatively high rate of tobacco use in Turkey leads Turkish government to take precautions and implement effective policies. In order to reduce tobacco consumption, Turkey has used:

- Warning labels on cigarette package
- Anti-tobacco information
- Taxation
- Counseling (quit lines, health care support)
- Smoke free environment
- Tobacco advertising, sponsorship and promotion bans

Turkey has performed considerable progress with these policies. Although the applied policies have taken a crucial role to reduce the prevalence of tobacco use in Turkey, we are still not sure which of these policies have higher effect to make current smokers think about quitting smoking. This thesis mainly investigates the effects of:

- Major tobacco control policies in Turkey: warning labels, anti-tobacco information, smoke-free environment, and taxation (those were investigated in GATS for Turkey).
- Beliefs of people that smoking causes serious illnesses.
- Health care providers counseling on current smokers' opinions about quitting smoking.

It also forecasts the tobacco use rate of Turkey for the year 2016 to observe the progress of Turkey at tobacco control. For this purpose, a system dynamics model is setup.

Information about the proposed model can be found in next sub-section.

1.3 A Brief Description of the Model

In this research thesis, a system dynamics model is developed in order to investigate the effects of tobacco control policies and tobacco associated factors that were investigated in GATS for Turkey. Because system dynamics is a powerful simulation method to get insight in the case of policy resistance and dynamic complexity (Sterman and Sterman, 2000). And it is increasingly used to design more successful policies in companies and public policy settings (Sterman and Sterman, 2000).



Figure 1.2 The main steps of the proposed model

The proposed model mainly follows the steps as given below (figure 1.2):

- Data collection
- Model setup
- Calibration
- Forecasting

The required data for developing the proposed model is taken from GATS reports for Turkey. Because GATS is a national interview that helps governments to monitor tobacco use in the adult population (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014). Also, it is one of the most reliable surveys for national tobacco monitoring researches.

The proposed system dynamics model consists of major SD elements, policies and factors, and model assumptions (figure 1.3). The major elements of an SD model are stocks and flows. The stocks of the proposed model are *current smokers* and *former smokers*. And, the flows of the proposed model are *quit* and *restart*.

In addition, the policies and factors that are adapted in the model are given below.

- Warning labels on cigarette package policy
- Anti-tobacco information policy
- Taxation policy
- Smoke free environment policy
- Beliefs of people that smoking causes serious illnesses
- Health care providers' advices to quit.



Figure 1.3 The framework for the proposed model

After model setup with mentioned inputs, we would like to find the values of missing parameters for evaluating the effects of the policies and factors. These values can reflect the current data very well.Correspondingly, a calibration analysis is performed in order to obtain missing parameters.

In addition, we foresee that the obtained parameter values will not change for the following two years if an event that shifts paradigm. Thus, the tobacco usage rate of the Turkey for the year 2016 is forecasted with using the adjusted values.

All details of the model can be found in Chapter 4.

1.4 The Relevance of the Thesis to Industrial Engineering

Public health basically aims to protect the health of entire population. It is defined by UK's Faculty of Public Health as "*the science and art of promoting and protecting health and well-being, preventing ill-health prolonging life through the organized efforts of society*". It is related with a vast range of study areas such as epigenetic, chronic diseases, the science of aging, mental health, disaster response, refugee health, injury intervention and tobacco control (http://www.jhsph.edu/about/what-is-public-health/). This research thesis focuses on the tobacco control issue of public health.

Tobacco usehas been a crucial threat for public health. In order to prevent the prevalence of it, several different measures have been implemented to societies. Correspondingly, implementation of efficient tobacco control policies has become a crucial point for protecting societies from the harms of tobacco use. Thus, understanding the tobacco use behaviors and evaluating the factors affecting it are relatively important in order to develop efficient tobacco control policies. However, investigating all these factors can be a really complex and dynamic process. In order to overcome the complexities and dynamism of the process, we can utilize from engineering methods.

In this research thesis, we perform an application on tobacco control policies using industrial engineering methods. System dynamics that is a simulation approach is used for modeling the tobacco control policies. Because system dynamics modeling can help to understand, model, and react the complexities of the tobacco control environment (Best et al., 2007). In addition, it can help to think differently about the tobacco control world by characterizing it in terms of feedback, stocks, and flows

(Best et al., 2007). Thus, this thesis analyzes a social issue with the help of industrial engineering methods in order to perform an example of the studies that combine social sciences and engineering methods and to show how to use engineering methods on social sciences fields.

1.5 Organization of the Thesis

This thesis is organized in six chapters. In Chapter 1, the problem statement and the objectives of the study are presented. Chapter 2 reviews the associated literature in the area of tobacco control for controlling tobacco. In Chapter 3, the background knowledge about tobacco control history of Turkey, Global Tobacco Adult Survey (GATS), and System Dynamics are given. Chapter 4 presents information about the used software, and describes the setup and calibration stages of the proposed model. In Chapter 5, results of the calibration and simulation runs of the model are discussed. In the final chapter, an overview for the results and future works are presented.

1.6 Conclusion

In the introduction chapter, the main objectives of the study and the problem statement were discussed. In the next chapter, the literature review for the tobacco use and control is presented.

CHAPTER 2- LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

Tobacco epidemic has been a global problem. The importance of the problem has attracted many researchers' attention to investigate the problem well and develop better solutions. Thus, tobacco use and control has become a large and growing field that is investigated by numerous researchers across multiple disciplines. In this chapter of the study, the tobacco use and control literature is reviewed.

2.2 Effects of Smoking on Health

Smoking of tobacco is defined as act of burning cured or dried tobacco plants' and inhaling the smoke the Tobacco leaves by Atlas (http://www.tobaccoatlas.org/products/types_of_tobacco_use/smokingandsmokeles). Tobacco products consist of different toxic and carcinogenic chemicals over 5000 (Borgerding and Klus, 2005; Talhout et al., 2011). They generally contain powerful addictive psychoactive ingredient, nicotine (http://www.who.int/topics/tobacco/en/). The ingredients of them makes them the world's leading man-made agent of death (Frieden and Bloomberg, 2007).

The damages of tobacco use and second-hand smoke on human health have been proved, based on strong scientific evidences (Yang et al., 2010). Table 2.1 represents some of the studies that investigated the relation between tobacco use and specific diseases such as cancer, cardiovascular diseases, and etc.

Diseases	Publications	
Cancer	http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs339/en/;Mack et al.	
	(1986); General, (1964); Boyle and Maisonneuve, (1995);	
	Schairer and Schöniger, (2001); Sasco et al. (2004)	
Adult on-set diabetes	Smoking and Tobacco Use; 50th Anniversary Surgeon General's	
	Report, (2014)	
Cardiovascular	Ockene and Miller, (1997); Ezzati et al. (2005); Smoking and	
diseases	Tobacco Use; 50th Anniversary Surgeon General's Report,	
	(2014); http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs339/en	
Respiratory diseases	The Health Consequences of Smoking, (1984); Strachan and	
	Cook, (1998);Cook and Strachan, (1999)	
Peripheral Vascular	The Health Consequences of Smoking, (1984)	
System		
Menstrual disturbance	Nusbaum et al.(2000)	
Premature illness	Frieden and Bloomberg, (2007)	
Low birth weight	Nusbaum et al. (2000)	
infants		
Earlier menopause	Nusbaum et al. (2000)	

Table 2.1 The scientific publications that investigate the relation between tobacco use and some specific diseases

Tobacco use is one of the important cause of cancer (http://www.who.int/topics/tobacco/en/). According the World Cancer Report in 2003, the damages of cancer is the highest in wealthy societies because of the widely observed tumors associated with smoking and the lifestyle of Western (Stewart and Kleihues, 2003). The damages of tobacco use is not only restricted with cancer. Cardiovascular disease mortality is another important harm of it (Ezzati et al., 2005). It also affects the respiratory system and cause respiratory diseases (The Health Consequences of Smoking, 1984). And, for women, tobacco use cause premature delivery, low birth infants, pelvic-floor disorders, decreased fertility, oral contraceptive failure, menstrual disturbance, earlier menopause and etc. (Nusbaum et al., 2000).

2.3 Tobacco Control

In order to preserve the societies from the destructive impacts of the use of tobacco, taking the prevalence of it under control is essential. For controlling tobacco use, various treatments, conventions and agreements are made worldwide. Table 2.2 represents the international agreements, conventions, and treaties those directly or indirectly address tobacco use (http://www.tobaccoatlas.org/solutions/rights_treaties/treaties_conventions_agree/). One of the most vital conventions among them is the Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (FCTC) that was developed by the World Health Organization. The FCTC is a treaty that considers the right of people while protecting the health of them with the highest standard and provides different regulations (http://www.who.int/fctc/about/en/). And, it is also only treaty devoted entirely to tobacco control

(http://www.tobaccoatlas.org/solutions/rights_treaties/treaties_conventions_agree/).

The WHO FCTC is mainly divided for the issues (da Costa e Silva and Fishburn, 2004):

- Surveillance, research, and exchange of information
- Passive smoking and smoke-free environments
- Illicit trade for the products of tobacco
- Labeling and packaging
- Disclosure and regulation of contents of the products of tobacco and tobacco smoke
- Sales to and by minors
- Tax measures
- Tobacco advertising, promotion, and sponsorship
- The support of government for manufacturing tobacco
- Convention of the dependence of tobacco dependence
- Passive smoking and smoke-free environments
- Surveillance, research, and exchange of information
- Scientific, legal, and technical cooperation

Table 2.2 The conventions, agreements and treaties that have been used internationally to address tobacco use

Year	Treaty/Convention/Agreement	Content
1948	Un Universal Declaration on Human Rights	Article 25: Everyone has the right to a standard of living adequate for the health and well-being of himself and of his family.
1957	Treaty of Rome	European community is mandated to pursue a high degree of public health protection.
1959	Un Convention on the Rights of the Child	Defends children's right to health.
1976	International Covenant on Economic, Social, and Cultural Rights	Reference the right to safe and healthy working conditions.
1976	International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR)	Article 19: Defends the curtailments of freedom of speech in the interests of public health.
1979	ConventiontoEliminateDiscriminationAgainstWomen(CEDAW)	Article 11: Defends the right to health for women, including the right to protection of health and to safety in working conditions.
1995	World Trade Organization (WTO)	Preamble: Replaced the 1947 General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT). In general, trade liberalization, without safeguards, has increased tobacco usage in low- and middle-income countries. The following five treaties entered into force with the establishment of WTO
1995	WTO Agreement on the Trade- Related Aspects of Intellectual Property Rights (TRIPS)	Recognizes that WTO Members may adopt measures necessary to protect public health.
1995	WTO Agreement on Technical Barriers to Trade (TBT Agreement)	Requires WTO Members to ensure that all technical regulations are not more trade-restrictive than necessary to achieve a legitimate objective such as the protection on human health.
1995	WTO General Agreement on Trade and Services (GATS)	States that nothing shall be construed to prevent the adoption or enforcement of measures necessary to protect human, animal, or plant life or health.
1995	WTO Agreement on Agriculture	Covers all agricultural products including tobacco and addresses market access, domestic support, and export subsidies.
1995	WTO Agreement on Subsidies and Countervailing Measures (SCM)	Addresses subsidies for raw tobacco and provides WTO Members a channel to seek elimination of a subsidy or to charge countervailing duties.
2003	The Un Norms on The Responsibilities of Transnational Corporations and Other Business Enterprises with Regard to Human Rights	Transnational corporations and other business enterprises shall not "produce, distribute, market, or advertise harmful or potentially harmful products for use by consumers".
2005	WHO Framework Convention on Tobacco Control	Only treaty devoted entirely to tobacco control.

(http://www.tobaccoatlas.org/solutions/rights_treaties/treaties_conventions_agree/)

In order to help to countries for implementation of beneficial policies to decrease the tobacco demand, the WHO introduced MPOWER measures that placed in the FCTC (http://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/publications/brochure_2013/en/). MPOWER focuses on six policy areas (http://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/en/):

- 1. Monitor the usage of tobacco and the tobacco control policies
- 2. Protect people from being second-hand smoker
- 3. Offer help to give up using tobacco products
- 4. Warn about the harms of tobacco
- 5. Enforce bans on tobacco promotion, sponsorship, and advertising
- 6. Raise taxes on tobacco

Countries use the defined measures in the WHO FCTC to protect their own society from the usage of tobacco products and the second-hand smoking (http://www.who.int/gho/tobacco/en/). A total of 168 countries implemented the WHO FCTC (http://www.who.int/fctc/signatories_parties/en/). Figure 2.1 represents the proportion of countries according to selected tobacco control policy in 2012.



Figure 2.1 Proportions of countries according to selected tobacco control policies of MPOWER for 2012 (http://www.who.int/gho/tobacco/en/)

The number of countries that signed this convention can prove the idea about that tobacco use is a global problem. Due to the importance of this problem, it is not only a study topic for policy makers. It also takes attentions of many researchers all over the world. We can find more than hundred publications in the literature on tobacco control policies and factors that can be reason of starting to smoke. In order to develop effective policies, understanding the tobacco use behavior of people is a crucial point. That's why factors affecting tobacco use has been investigated by researchers, too. For example;Durmusoglu andCiftci (2014) investigated four different factors affecting tobacco use behaviors of students. These factors are given below.

- The school success
- Disciplinary punishment
- Part-time employment
- Alcohol usage

In the study, the relationship between these factors and also the strength of these relationships were analyzed using Fuzzy Cognitive Mapping. Extended Great Deluge Algorithm was used as training algorithm in this study. The results indicated that the relation between alcohol usage and tobacco usage was positive and had the highest strength. The relation between the low school success and tobacco usage was also positive and had the second highest strength while the strength of relation between high disciplinary punishment and tobacco usage was the third one. Lastly, the relation between part time employment and tobacco usage was positive, too and had the lowest strength.

The examples of studies that investigated factors affecting tobacco use as in the study of Durmusoglu and Ciftci (2014) can be increased. However, in this research thesis, we mainly focus on tobacco control policies. For that reason, the studies that stressed on the tobacco control policies are reviewed in this chapter. In the next sub-sections, the literature that investigated the specific tobacco control policies is given.

2.3.1 Taxation

Taxation is an effective tobacco control policy that directly affects the economics of the current smokers. It is also one of the most important measures of MPOWER measure packages. Many countries have been applying this policy for reducing tobacco consumption rate of their own society. The figure A.1 that is given in appendices represents the distribution of retail taxes on tobacco that countries applied all around the world in 2012.

Taxation on tobacco products to reduce tobacco prevalence has been widely studied in the literature. In this sub-section of the chapter, the major studies that are associated with taxation policy is reviewed.

In 1982, Lewit and Coate investigated the impacts of tax increases on decreasing the smoking prevalence by estimating the elasticity of price for cigarettes demand. They used the 1976 Health Interview Survey for the analysis. The results indicated that there is a considerable impact of price on usage of tobacco for young men.

Subsequently, in 1986, Baltagi and Levin examined the cigarette consumption using pooled data of 46 states from 1963 to 1980 to see the effect of it on generating revenue. The effect of "bootlegging" was modeled using "neighboring" price. Two main policies were focused in this study. First one was that taxation on cigarette is an effective tool for generating revenues although, there may be spillover effects to neighboring states where bootlegging is significant. The second one was about advertising bans of cigarette consumption. They found that cigarette taxation will generate revenues. However, as an anti smoking tool, taxation may not be as effective in reducing cigarette consumption. Also, there was no proof for that advertising bans has the effect of increasing consumption rather than reducing it. In 1992, Baltagi and Levin expanded the study of the previous study by updating the results from 1980 to 1988. They studied the sensitivity of the findings to different ways of modeling the impact of bootlegging while controlling for the impacts of random and fixed state. The results showed considerable effect for the purchasing of borders, and income.

In 2001, Emery et al., examined the relation between experience with adolescents' sensitivity to prices and tobacco use in 1993 nationally. They used statistical methods for the analysis. And, the results pointed that pricing was not completely associated with experimentation.

In addition, Ahmad (2005) studied the tobacco taxation topic using dynamic simulation. Author defended that increasing taxation on cigarettes may be beneficial for economy and health. In order to prove this issue, he built a dynamic simulation

model which follows aging, migration, deaths, and the variation in the status of smoking for whole California population aged 75 years in order to evaluate the economic and health outcomes of the variations cumulatively under various tax rate. The results proved his opinion. Additional tax increase could provide benefits for economy and health of California. In 2008, Ahmad and Franz expanded the previous study. They performed the study to national level and applied sensitivity analysis on price elasticity. The results showed that 40 % tax increase on tobacco reduce the prevalence of smoking from 21% in 2004; to 15% in 2025 over 20 years. Thus, they pointed that increasing taxes on tobacco is an important way to reduce tobacco use, to generate additional tax revenue, and to result in significant savings in medical care costs.

In 2006, Gallus et al. performed a cross-sectional study in order to search the variation in tobacco demand according to tobacco products' prices across the region of Europe. This study investigated all countries of the region of Europe (a total of 52 countries). The analysis was made using cigarette consumption annually, the packages' retail prices and foreign brand tobacco products, the gross domestic product adjusted with purchasing power parities, and the adult population of the year, 2000 data. For the estimation of price elasticity, a double log multiple linear regression analysis was performed. The findings showed that the 10% raise in tobacco products' price significantly reduces the consumption of them 5-7% in Europe.

DeCicca et al. (2008) performed an analysis for examining the dynamics of decisions of young adults about smoking initiation and cessation. They developed an empirical model for smoking cessation and initiation. The data from 1992 to 2000 was used. Two different identification strategies were examined. First one focused on the measurement anti-smoking sentiment state directly. The second one stressed on young adults who face with various pricing policy on cigarettes because of moving to another region of the country between 1992 and 2000. The results showed that there was not any proof to think that pricing policy prevent the initiation of smoking. However, higher prices are associated with raised smoking cessations. On the other hand, DeCicca and McLeod (2008) investigated the older adult smoking behavior when pricing policy is applied on tobacco products in United States . They used the data that was obtained from the Behavioral Risk Surveillance System from 2000 to

2005. Thus, they found that large cigarette tax increase reduced smoking at older adults who are not well educated and live in poor households

Moreover, in 2011, Nonnemaker and Farrelly studied on the role of taxation and price of cigarette for different gender or race/ethnicity. They used the National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1997 cohort and the methods of discrete-time survival. As a result of the study, they obtained that the prices of tobacco products are a considerable factor for black youth to the initiation of tobacco use.

Bader et al. (2011) investigated the effects of taxation policies on the behavior of tobacco use in risky population (dual diagnosis, youth, heavy tobacco users, young adults, and aboriginal people). For this study, they used knowledge synthesis that illustrated the value of using important approaches:

- The opinion of experts
- The review of the literature systematically

The study indicated that taxation is a strong measure for decreasing the prevalence of tobacco among youth, young adults and persons of low socioeconomic status.

Differently, Peretti-Watel et al. (2012) studied on the reactions of persistent tobacco users to taxation and factors that were correlated with their reactions. They defined the persistent smokers like tobacco users who did not give up due to taxation. They performed a telephone survey which included questions about the tobacco usage and taxation reactions. Logistic regressions were applied in order to determine the factors related with tobacco users' reactions. The results showed that the reasons of people for smoking and their personal time perspectives contributed to their reactions to taxation.

In 2013, Chen et al. (2013) focused on the idea if there are differences in price sensitivity between heavy and light smokers. They used quantile regression in order to examine price sensitivity of demand for smokers with different levels of tobacco use. They performed a survey in Taiwan for this purpose. The findings showed that pricing policies can reduce tobacco consumption for heavy smokers.

Consequently taxation literature generally focuses on two main topics: the effects of taxation on reduction of smoking and on obtaining revenue from it. The studies mainly approved that taxation help to reduce tobacco use and to increase revenue of the governments.

2.3.2 Smoke-free Environment

One of the widely used tobacco control policies is smoke-free environments. It is generally used to protect people from tobacco smoke. Figure A.2 represents the number of places that countries applied smoke-free environment for 2012. Smoke-free environments are another important tobacco control associated topic that is studied in literature. In this part of the thesis, a brief review on smoke-free environment is given.

In 1999, Conti presented a report about the agreements of a meeting that was held in January 1989 in Houston devoted to tobacco consumption in USA. In the meeting, three vital points were accepted. One of them was about the smoke-free hospitals in the country. The second one was about fostering the establishment of a smoke-free USA. And, the last one was about that USA should remain within the purview of the Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease Committee.

In 1999, Norman et al. investigated that people who needed smoke-free houses and cars, could really reach them. They applied the analysis on 6985 adults aged 18 and older that were participated in survey in California. The findings showed that smoking bans for home and car were not enough for nonsmokers who have friends who smoke.

Apart from previous studies, Wechsler et al. (2001) searched if students lives in smoke-free places can be effective to protect them from smoking comparing students who use different places in campus for accommodation. They found that smoke-free accommodation places may protect the students that were not daily tobacco users. However, the variation in the rate of tobacco use may be because of self-selection of students into smoke-free accommodation places.

In addition, Nykiforuk et al. (2007) stressed on the relations between the outcomes of the characteristics of the municipal and community smoke-free environment policy outcomes in order to explain how condition are related with bylaw strength and status. They used linear and multiple regression analyses in order for obtaining models for municipal bylaw strengths and status using the factors of community: the tobacco use rate of health regions, socio-demographics, the type of municipality, and provincial environment for tobacco measure. At the end of the study, authors pointed

that the characteristics of the community play an important role in the strength and status of municipal smoke-free bylaws.

Moreover, in 2011, Öberg et al. focused on the estimation of the worldwide damage of disease attributable to passive smoke, measured as death and disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) lost for adult and children tobacco users. It was the first assessment of the worldwide burden of disease from exposure to smoke. They applied comparative risk assessment for 192 countries during 2004. According to the results, 35% of female and 33% of male non smokers, and 40% of children nonsmokers had been passive smokers in 2004. This exposure was estimated to have caused;

- 379,000 people 's death due to ischemic heart disease;
- 165,000 people's deaths due to lower respiratory infections;
- 36,900 people's death due to asthma;
- 21,400 people's death due to lung cancer.

Differently, in 2013, Ward et al. performed one of the pioneering study that compare the measured passive smoke concentrations among the countries that locates in the European region directly with the explicit intention of estimating the relative impact of the various levels of smoke-free laws that have been implemented across these countries. For the study, they compared the fine particles from exposure to smoke in hospitability venues before and after the applications of smoking bans in Turkey, Scotland, Portugal, Ireland, Italy, Greece, and France. The results presented that partial laws are less effective than comprehensive smoke-free laws for reducing passive tobacco use.

In 2014,Farrelly et al. investigated the influence of tobacco control program funding, smoke-free environment legislations, and cigarette prices on young adult smoking outcomes. They used experimental design method in order to understand the influence on tobacco outcomes. This study demonstrated that smoke-free environments are important policy for decreasing the tobacco use prevalence at young adults.

Smoke-free environments, second-hand smoking bans, and exposure to tobacco smoke have been widely studied topic for tobacco control literature. Lots of the studies focus on specific smoke-free places. Table 2.3 represents some of these studies according to focal place(s).

Place(s)	Author(s)/Year
Hospital	Sureda et al. (2010); Sureda et al. (2014),
City	Ueda et al. (2011)
Class	Schulze et al. (2006),
Home	Norman et al. (1999);Tong et al. (2008);Pereira et al.
	(2013);Nazar et al. (2014)
Car	Norman et al. (1999);Nguyen, (2013),
Work	Odukoya and Sekoni, (2013);Nazar et al. (2014)
Prison	Vaughn and Del Carmen, (1993);Eldridge and Cropsey,
	(2009)
Bar, Pub	McNabola et al. (2005); Nagelhout et al. (2011), Pieroni et
	al. (2013)
Outdoor Public Area	Thomson et al. (2013)
Restaurant, Cafe	Pieroni et al. (2013)
Park, Beach	Okoli et al. (2013)

Table 2.3 Smoke-free environment or second-hand smoke related publications according to their focal place

2.3.3 Warning Labels

Warning labels on the cigarette packages that is an effective tobacco control activities are generally used in order to make people conscious of the dangers of tobacco use. It is also one of the widely used tobacco control policy in the world. Figure A.3 represents the size of used warning labels on tobacco products all over the world in 2012.

In this sub-section, a brief review of warning label studies is given. In 1992, Beede and Lawson examined the effect of warning labels on 568 adolescent children whose average age was 13. For this purpose, a survey was applied for the target population. In order to reflect attention of the participants to the assortment of cues presented on the cigarette packages, a measure of unaided recall was used. The results showed that the presentation of warning label on plain packages achieved a considerable higher recall rate in contrast to the packages of brand.

Differently, in 2007, Hammond et al. investigated the effectiveness of warning labels for four different countries. Adult smokers from Canada, USA, UK, and Australia were surveyed by telephone surveys. The results showed that comprehensive health warnings that placed on the packages were more possible to be seen by tobacco users. And, variation in the health warning was also related with raised effectiveness. Also, in 2007, Thrasher et al. investigated the potential effect of graphic warning labels among adult Mexican smokers. They used n'th price auction method in order to determine which cigarette package (with pictorial warning label or with only text warning label) was perceived by adult smokers. The auction method is used for revealing private preferences and evaluations of the commodities. They found that adult tobacco users of Mexico appear to perceive a high value to tobacco package with only text health warnings comparing with packages with pictorial labels. Also, the lower perceived value of package with pictorial warnings was relatively consistent across groups defined by socio-demographic, amount of smokers daily, number of attempts to quit, and perceived tobacco use risks

Moreover, in 2011, Bansal-Travers et al. searched the effect of tobacco products' package design, the descriptors of the product, and warnings for health on the perception of risk and appeal of brand. They applied a cross- sectional mall-intercept study for 197 adult smokers and 200 nonsmokers in Buffalo NY from June to July 2009. The results indicated that larger, health warnings that convey loss-framed messages as most effective for communicating health risks to adults. In addition to this, the color and product descriptors are related with wrong beliefs about risks.

In addition, McCool et al. (2012) examined the impacts of pictorial labeled cigarette packages on adolescents in order to evaluate the potential of the strategies to reduce smoking initiation. The study was performed for 80 students who are 14-16 years old in New Zealand. Textual analysis indicated that graphic warning labels on a plain package improved the attention to visual warning labels and damage perceptions caused by tobacco use, and decreased the social appeal of tobacco use.

2.3.4 Anti-Tobacco Mass Media Campaigns

MPOWER measures include anti-tobacco media campaigns in order to warn smokers about harms of tobacco use. In today's world, the effects of media on people cannot be ignored. In order to reduce the tobacco use prevalence, using media effect can be beneficial. For that reason, many countries use the media for this aim. Figure A.4 represents anti-tobacco media campaigns applied with appropriate characteristics for 2012. In this section, the studies that investigated the tobacco associated mass media campaigns are reviewed briefly.

In 1986, Vaque and Salleras defined the anti-tobacco health information activities carried out through communication media during 1983 in Catalonia. Three groups have been centre for the activities. These were; doctors, teachers, and politicians as models, the young, and the general population.

In 2006, Biener et al. evaluated the impact of conventional tobacco usage helps such as give up tobacco usage programs and pharmaceutical therapy on cessation at the population level relative to the effect of mass media anti-smoking advertisements. A telephone survey was applied to 6739 residents of Massachusetts in 2001-2002 yielded a subsample of 787 individuals who had given up smoking within the past 2 years. The analyses of 2004-2005 indicated that advertisements were the most mentioned source of help among recent quitters. However, people who smoke for a long time found the conventional aid helpful.

Moreover, Dietz et al. (2008) investigated the reach of the anti-tobacco media activities of Florida to youths in order to a) define who were aware of the campaigns and b) analyze whether this awareness was related with an intention to give up tobacco usage in the next 30 days. A telephone survey analysis conducted for this purpose. At the end of the study, the results pointed that the campaign did not have the unintended solution of influencing intention to smoke of adults. In order to change the adults' behaviors, the campaign must stress on youths, too.

Also, Durkin et al. (2013) examined that if certain types of anti-tobacco advertisements are more possible to be perceived as beneficial across tobacco users in 10 middle or low income countries. Egypt, Bangladesh, India, China, Indonesia, Philippines, Mexico, Turkey, Vietnam, and Russia and 10 anti-tobacco advertisements were taken into account in this study. 5 advertisements were shown in all countries and the other 5 advertisements were chosen by country representatives, providing 37 anti-smoking advertisements across all countries (8 emotional stories of health effects, 10 graphic health effect advertisements, 6 simulated health effects, 7 other health effects and 6 non-health effects). The analysis showed that graphic
health effect advertisements were less likely to change for the perception of effectiveness across countries, age, gender, education, amount smoked, and parental status were less possible to be affected by differences in cultures.

Bansal-Travers et al. (2014) focused on pro-tobacco advertising and promotion effects in India. They studied on the associations between tobacco habits (smoker, smokeless tobacco user, and non-smokers), demographic characteristics, and exposure to pro-tobacco advertising and promotion, beliefs about tobacco use, including perceived risk and addiction. The result of this study showed the necessity of stronger legislation and strict enforcement of bans on direct and indirect advertising and promotion of tobacco products in India.

2.4 Tobacco Control Simulation

Tobacco control is a complex and dynamic interrelated system (Best et al., 2007). Correspondingly, in order to model tobacco control, simulation, which is an efficient way to imitate the real world systems, can be used. In this part of the study, tobacco associated simulation studies that already exists in the literature are reviewed briefly.

The main examples to these studies are SimSmoke studies. SimSmoke is discretetime Markov process model of the tobacco use and control and smoking associated mortality that simulates the effects of tobacco control measures (Levy et al., 2014). It is a method that project population forward through births and deaths (Levy et al., 2010). SimSmoke contains from a population model, a smoking model, a smoking attributable death (SAD), and policy modules (Levy et al., 2005;Levy et al., 2005;Levy et al., 2012).

The SimSmoke model has been applied for different countries and states in order to examine the effects of tobacco control policies. Levy et al. (2008) performed a SimSmoke model for examining tobacco control policies of Thailand that was one of the pionerring Asian nations that apply strong tobacco control regulations. They also focused on the tobacco use related deaths and lives saved at the end of these regulations. The effect of regulations implemented was distinguished between 1991 and 2006. The results showed that tax increases and advertising bans had the highest impact for reducing tobacco prevalence for Thailand. Also, they found that 319456 lives will have saved by 2026. In other study, Levy et al, (2010) used SimSmoke model in order to investigate the impacts of tobacco control regulations that were

applied beginning in 1995 in the Republic of Korea on the usage of tobacco and deaths. The model showed that price increases and strict media campaign will prolong 1,048,123 male lives by 2027. Moreover, in 2012, a SimSmoke model for Italy is developed by Levy et al. They evaluated the effects of past tobacco control policies to project the effects of future tobacco control policies on tobacco use and tobacco use related premature death. Consequently, they found that if tobacco prices increases, and high intensity media campaigns, well cessation treatment program, strong health warnings, stricter smoke-free air regulations, advertising bans are applied, there can be a significant reduction at tobacco use and tobacco use related premature death. In addition, Levy et al. (2014) investigated the potential impact of the WHO FCTC measures on China using SimSmoke modeling. The results indicated that the WHO FCTC measures can save more than 12.8 million people from tobacco use related deaths in China by 2050. There are also studies for other countries such as Germany (Levy et al., 2013), Minnesota (Levy et al., 2012), Brazil (Levy et al., 2012), Russia (Maslennikova et al., 2014), The Netherlands (Nagelhout et al., 2012), The Czech Republic (Levy et al., 2012) and etc.

In addition to these, there are limited numbers of projectsabout Turkey, too. These projects generally focus on comparisons of the effects of policies with other countries (http://www.pire.org/internationalprojects.asp?cntry=Turkey).

Different from the SimSmoke studies, Ahmad (2005) used dynamic simulation approach for investigation of the taxation policy. Also, Ahmad and Franz (2008) expanded the study of Ahmad (2005) performing a sensitivity analysis on price elasticity. These studies were mentioned in details at the taxation review sub-section.

2.5 Conclusion

In this part of the thesis, the literature of tobacco use and control is reviewed and presented. The most of these studies significantly indicated the harms of tobacco use on health. And, the studies about tobacco control policies generally tried to find the effective polices for different target population.

CHAPTER 3- BACKGROUND KNOWLEDGE

3.1 Introduction

This chapter provides background information about tobacco use and control history of Turkey, global tobacco adult survey, and system dynamics modeling. As mentioned before, one of the major objectives of this thesis to examine the effects of the main tobacco control policies implemented by Turkish authorities. For that reason, tobacco use and control history of Turkey is first introduced in Section 3.2. In Section 3.3, Global Tobacco Adult Survey (GATS) and the results of GATS for Turkey that is used for data collection are presented. And, Section 3.4 provides information for simulation and system dynamics modeling that is used for modeling processes of this thesis.

3.2 Tobacco Use and Control History of Turkey

Tobacco epidemic is one of the biggest and preventable causes of death worldwide. Many countries suffer from the negative consequences of high tobacco consumption rate. Turkey is one of them with relatively high tobacco use. Tobacco related diseases cause over 100,000 death every year and this amount can increase to 240,000 death by 2030 (Bilir et al., 2012).

Figure 3.1 represents the sales of cigarettes in Turkey from 1925 to 2013. The number of sales can give idea about the consumption of tobacco in Turkey. From 1945 to 2000, the number of sold cigarettes dramatically increased although there was rarely decrease at some years. After 2000, the increase at the sales started to decrease. The major reason of the decrease at sales may be the applied legislations and policies for tobacco control.

In order to prevent the increase at tobacco use and protect the Turkish society from damages of tobacco consumption, Turkish government has made specific tobacco control actions and legislations. The important actions and legislations are given below according to the years.

- In 1987, the Ministry of Health (MoH) invited relevant experts in order to discuss how to control tobacco use in Turkey (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014).
- In 1988, the first survey for investigating tobacco use prevalence of Turkey was performed by the MoH(Ministry of Health, 2010;Bilir et al., 2012).
- In 1996, the primary tobacco control law of Turkey came into force. It was "The Law on Prevention and Control of Hazards of Tobacco Products" with the law no 4207. The aim of this law was regulating the tobacco control issues such as prohibition on public smoking; promotion; advertising; and sponsorship; education campaigns; labeling and packaging; and penalties for violations.



Figure 3.1 Cigarette sales 1925-2013 (billion sticks) in Turkey (http://www.tapdk.gov.tr/tr/piyasa-duzenlemeleri/tutun-mamulleripiyasasi/tutun-mamulleri-istatistikleri.aspx, 2013)

- In 2002, the Tobacco and Alcohol Market Coordination Committee (TAPDK) was established in order to organize the procedures and principles concerning the production, internal and external purchase and sales of tobacco and tobacco products in Turkey (http://www.tobaccocontrollaws.org/legislation/country/turkey/laws).
- In 2003, Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) was conducted for the first time.

- In 2004, Turkey signed the WHO FCTC in order to become a party of this vital treaty.
- In 2005, a regulation on methods and essentials concerning the manufacture type, surveillance and labeling was applied in order to protect from the damages of tobacco use.
- In 2008, with the law 5727, the law 4207 was strengthened. The TAPDK started to regulate the size, contents, formats, and shapes of no-smoking signs in the places where smoking is forbidden, the health warnings signs that must appear in the fields that are separated for tobacco use (http://www.tobaccocontrollaws.org/legislation/country/turkey/laws).
- In 2008, the first Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) for Turkey was conducted for adults aged 15 years and older using a standardized protocol including a survey, sample design, and data management (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014).
- In 2009, the format, rotation, and size of warning labeled on the products were regulated. Also, the implementation of smoke-free provisions in restaurants, bars, and places in the other hospitability industry were arranged.
- In 2009, the second GYTS was conducted.
- In 2012, the ingredients in tobacco products were regulated.
- In 2012, the second GATS for Turkey was conducted.

One of the most crucial tobacco control activity of Turkey was to become a party of the WHO FCTC in 2004. The WHO FCTC has helped to Turkey for providing required methods to tobacco control. The FCTC shows three main approaches (Bilir et al., 2012):

- 1. Measures for decreasing the demand for tobacco products that include regulations for (Ministry of Health, 2010):
 - Taxation and pricing
 - Control of the products
 - Smoking cessation
 - Public information
 - Environmental tobacco smoke
 - Promotion, advertising, and sponsorship

- 2. Policies for decreasing the tobacco products' supply that include regulations for (Ministry of Health, 2010):
 - Accessibility to youths
 - Illicit trade
 - The production of tobacco and new policies
- 3. Observing the tobacco use and tobacco control measures.

Turkey has been one of the most willing countries to reduce the harms of tobacco use. Figure 3.2 represents an outline for tobacco control activities of Turkey. Although the tobacco use rate is still high, Turkey has achieved great successes in tobacco control (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014). The primary reason of the success of Turkey at tobacco control is the applied tobacco control policies. For implementation of those tobacco control policies, the requirement of the WHO FCTC has been implemented to the society. Consequently, Turkey became the first country to meet all six MPOWER criteria (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014).

In order to monitor the progress at tobacco control, Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) and Global Youth Tobacco Survey (GYTS) has been conducted. In the context of this study, GATS will be investigated. Because GATS is one of the most reliable researches that are conducted in order to monitor only tobacco use and control status of countries. The information about the GATS will be presented in the next sub-section.



Figure 3.2 Outline of tobacco activities of Turkey based on GATS, GYTS, health professionals survey and individual surveys (Bilir et al., 2012)

3.3 Global Adult Tobacco Survey

The Global Adult Tobacco Survey (GATS) is a household survey that is conducted nationally and launched in February, 2007 as a new factor of the ongoing Global Tobacco Surveillance System (GTSS) (http://www.who.int/tobacco/surveillance/survey/gats/en/). GATS is a global standard that helps governments to monitor tobacco use in the adult population and key tobacco control measures systematically (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014). The major objective of the GATS is to obtain data for the usage of tobacco and the measures of tobacco control applying a standardized interview, sample design, and data collection/management procedures among adults aged 15 years and older (Ministry of Health, 2010). For that reason, GATS is one of the most reliable surveys for monitoring tobacco use and control status of countries. The GATS includes the topics (http://www.who.int/tobacco/surveillance/survey/gats/en/):

- Cessation
- Tobacco use prevalence,
- Second-hand smoking and policies
- Media
- Economics
- Beliefs, attitudes, perceptions, and knowledge

The GATS generally divides the households in three main categories: current smokers, former smokers, and never smokers.

- *Current smokers* is defined as people who currently tobacco users as daily or occasional basis.
- *Former smokers* is defined as people who used tobacco products in the past. However, they quitted smoking.
- *Never smokers* is defined as people who never use tobacco products.

The results obtained from the GATS help governments in the formulation, tracking, and tobacco control policies' implementation, and also compare the results with the results of other countries (http://www.who.int/tobacco/surveillance/survey/gats/en/).

3.3.1 GATS Application for Turkey

The GATS for Turkey was first conducted in 2008. After 4 years, in 2012, the second GATS for Turkey was performed to monitor the change at tobacco use profile of Turkey and the contributions of applied tobacco control policies.

For the study of Turkey (Ministry of Health, 2010;Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014):

• Populationunder Interest: All settlements in Turkey were participated to the survey except for villages with populations less than 200. All people who are living in private household and aged 15 and older living in private were conducted. According to the GATS Sample Design Manual, at least 8000 respondent surveys (2000 each for urban men and women and rural men and women) are required. However, for Turkey, 51,151 in 2008, 54,548 people in 2012 were surveyed. In order to calculate the number of households who would be surveyed in 2012, the results of the GATS 2008 for Turkey were taken into account. And, the response and eligibility rates for 2008 were used. (Table 3.1 represents the response and eligibility rates.) Then, required study population was calculated with the formulations given below.

$$Male Sample Size = 4000/(PER*PRR Men)$$
(3.1)

Initial Total Sample Size=(Male Sample Size + Female Sample Size)/(HER*HSR*HRR) (3.3)

Response and Eligibility Rates	Percentage		
Household Eligibility Rate (HER)	0.88		
Household Response Rate (HRR)	0.94		
Household Screening Rate (HSR)	0.94		
Person Eligibility Rate (PER)	1.00		
Person Response Rate-Men (PRR Men)	0.88		
Person Response Rate-Women (PRR Women)	0.89		

Table 3.1 Response and eligibility rates for 2008 GATS results (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014)

• *Sampling Design:* The survey's sampling method was a three-stage, stratified systematic cluster sample method. In the first stage, the base weights were calculated that were proportional to the probabilities of selection for each sample respondent inversely. At the first stage, calculations contained probabilities for the selection of Primary Sampling Units (PSU), households, and eligible individuals. At the second stage, base weights were adjusted in order to balance for losses in the sample outcome due to non-response. Clusters from urban and rural areas were selected (Primary Sampling Units (PSU)). The household non-response adjustment was performed using the formulation given below based on each PSU. In the last stage, calibration adjustments are given in the table 3.2.

Household Response Rate =
$$(I+P)/[(I+P)+(R+NC+O)+(UH+UO)]$$
 (3.4)

Household Adjusted Value=
$$1/(Household Response Rate)$$
 (3.5)

Term	Definition
Ι	The number of fully completed households
Р	The number of partially completed households
R	The number of refusals
NC	The number of non contacts
0	Any other reason for not obtaining household data from eligible households
UH	Household with unknown eligibility
UO	Any other reason for not obtaining household data from units with unknown
	eligibility.

Table 3.2 The definition of the terms used in the formula of Household Response Rate (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014)

After weighting stages, the multiplicative effect (Meff) was calculated in order to point if there is a need to adjust for minimum and maximum extreme values. The Meff is calculated as given below.

$$Meff_w = 1 + \frac{S_w^2}{\bar{w}^2}$$
(3.6)

 S_w^2 is the variance of the weight. And, \overline{w}^2 is the mean of the weights.

• *Sampling Error Estimation*: Standard error (SE) calculations were made. SE was calculated by using Statistical Analysis System (SAS) software.

- *Survey:* GATS for Turkey was prepared seeking for the answers under8 factors. These are: background characteristics (gender, age, education, and etc.), tobacco smoking, smokeless tobacco, cessation, second-hand smoke (SHS), economics, media, knowledge and attitudes.
- Statistical Analysis: Analysis was performed using SAS programs.

You can find further details for survey methodology on the GATS reports for Turkey.

3.3.2 GATS Results of Turkey

The survey that was conducted in 2008, represented 51,151,000 adults (25,096,000 male, 26,055,000 female) who aged 15 years and older while the survey in 2012 represented 54,548,000 adults (26,862,000 male, 27,686,000 female). The major findings obtained from the GATSs of Turkey are given below.

- In 2008, 31.2% of the adult population was current smokers which could be daily or occasional smokers, 52.8% of the adult population was never smokers who never tried smoking, and 15.9% of them was former smokers who quitted smoking while in 2012, 27.1%, 59.8% and 13.1% of the adult population were respectively current smokers, never smokers and former smokers. Thus, although, the population increased, the prevalence of tobacco use decreased in Turkey.
- In 2008, 44.8% of the current smokers and former smokers who have been abstinent for less than 12 months made quit attempt. And, 15.8% of them have been successful to quit. In 2012, 46% of the current smokers and former smokers who have been abstinent for less than 12 months made quit attempt. And, 13.1% of them have been successful to quit.
- In 2008, 46.9% of the current smokers and former smokers who have been abstinent for less than 12 months visited a health care provider (HCP). 49% of them were asked by HCP if a smoker and among the smokers 83,1% were advised to quit by the HCP. In 2012, 40.8% of the current smokers and former smokers who have been abstinent for less than 12 months visited a health care provider (HCP). 51.4% of them were asked by HCP if a smoker and among the smokers 83.5% were advised to quit by the HCP.

- Among current smokers who made quit attempt in the past 12 months and former smokers who have been abstinent for less than 21 months, 9.3% of them used pharmacotherapy, 1.8% of them used counseling and the remaining 88.9% quitted with traditional medicines, other products or without assistance in 2008, while 13.6%, 8.0%, and 78.1% of them quitted with pharmacotherapy, counseling, and traditional medicines, other products or without assistance respectively in 2012.
- In 2008, 11.3%, 6.0%, 55.9%, and 16.5% of the adults were exposed to tobacco smoke at public (state) buildings, health care facilities, restaurants, and public transportation respectively in the past 30 days while in 2012, 6.5%, 3.8%, 12.9%, and 10.4% of them were exposed to tobacco smoke at public (state) buildings, health care facilities, restaurants, and public transportation respectively in the past 30 days. 31.6% nonsmokers (never smokers and former smokers) were exposed to tobacco smoke at work in 2008, while 12.3% of them were exposed in 2012.
- In 2008, a current smoker paid for manufactured cigarettes on average 86 Turkish Liras (TRL) per month in 2012. It became 157.6 TRL in 2012.
- In 2008, 91.6% of the current smokers noticed anti-tobacco information during the last 30 days somewhere(TV, newspaper, internet, magazines, and etc.) while 94.1% of them noticed in 2012. Also, 53.7%, 87.8%, 24.9%, 43.9%, and 6.0% of them noticed anti-tobacco information respectively at newspapers, television, radio, billboards, and other in 2008. And, in 2012, 44.8%, 91.6%, 28.4%, 32.9%, 30.0%, and 2.8% of them noticed the anti-tobacco information respectively at newspapers, television, radio, billboards, and other in 2008. And, in 2012, 44.8%, 91.6%, 28.4%, 32.9%, 30.0%, and 2.8% of them noticed the anti-tobacco information respectively at newspapers, television, radio, billboards, internet, and other.
- In 2008, 95.1% of manufactured cigarette smokers noticed health warning labels on cigarette package and 46.5% of them thought about quitting because of warning labels. In 2012, 94.3% of current smokers noticed health warning labels on cigarette package, and 53.0% of them thought about quitting due to labels. Also, 92.5% of current smokers noticed pictorial warnings on the package and 48.5% of them thought about quitting due to pictorial labels.
- In 2008, 95.5% of current smokers believe that smoking cause serious illnesses while this figure is 96.0% for 2012.

The comparison of the detailed results is given in Appendix B.

3.4 Simulation

Complex and dynamic systems cause multiple problems to learning (Sterman and Sterman, 2000). Modeling is a way of finding solution for the real world problems and allows you to optimize systems prior to implementation(Borshchev and Filippov, 2004). Conducting experiments on a real world problem may be impossible or impractical due to the dynamism and complexity. For this kind of case, simulation modeling is used widely (Ciancio and Mukerji, 2008). Because simulation imitates the operation of a real-world process or system over time (Banks et al., 2004).

Simulation can be categorized in four main approaches (Borshchev and Filippov, 2004). These approaches are given below.

- Discrete-Event Simulation (DE) is the modeling of systems in which the state variable changes only at discrete set of points in time (Banks et al., 2004).
- Agent-Based (AB) is a relatively recent modeling method that is widely used in order to model complex and dynamic systems composed of interacting, autonomous agents (Macal, 2010).
- Dynamic Systems (DS) stays a bit aside as it is used to model and design physical systems (Borshchev and Filippov, 2004).
- System Dynamics (SD) is used for designing more effective policies and organizations and assumes a high level of aggregation of the object being modeled (http://www.anylogic.com/system-dynamics).

Figure 3.3 represents the main characteristic of the mentioned simulation approaches in detail. In the context of this study, in order to model tobacco control policy of Turkey, system dynamics modeling is used. The next subsection gives information for system dynamics.



Figure 3.3 Approaches in simulation modeling on abstraction level scale (Borshchev and Filippov, 2004)

3.4.1 System Dynamics

"System dynamics is an approach that should help in important top management problems . . . The solutions to small problems yield small rewards. Vey often the most important problems are built little more difficult to handle than the unimportant. Many people predetermine mediocre results by setting initial goals too low. The attitude must be one of enterprise design. The expectation should be for major improvement . . . The attitude that the goal is to explain behavior, which is fairly common in academic circles, is not sufficient. the goal should be to find management policies and organizational structures that lead to greater success." Jay W. Forrester(Forrester, 1961;Sterman and Sterman, 2000).

System Dynamics (SD) modeling was developed by Jay W. Forrester who is an electrical engineer in the mid-1950s. SD was called as *Industrial Dynamics* and is defined as "the study of the information feedback characteristics of industrial activity to show how organizational structure, amplification (in policies), and time delays (in decision and actions) interact to influence the success of the enterprise by Forrester (Forrester, 1961).

SD modeling has been characterized as top down model that model a system by breaking into its major factors and modeling the factors interactions (Macal, 2010). The major principles of SD are that the complex behaviors of organizational and

social systems are the result of ongoing accumulations of states such as people, material, information, or even biological or psychological states and both balancing and reinforcing feedback mechanisms (Homer and Hirsch, 2006). SD models generally includes a small number of state variables which determine the modeled system's state and a specification of the rate of change of each of the state variables, that depends on the prior system state (Macal, 2010).

SD modeling works with only aggregates, the components of stock are indistinguishable and there is no individuality (Borshchev and Filippov, 2004). It uses mathematical simulation in order to model the structure of the system and simulate the future system behavior, including unintended results and long-term impacts (Best et al., 2007).

The SD modeling includes (http://www.systemdynamics.org/what-is-s/):

- Defining problems dynamically, in terms of graphs over time.
- Concepts of the real system are accepted as continuous quantities interconnected in loops of information feedback and circular causality.
- Determining the stock and flows.
- Formulating a behavioral model capable of reproducing.
- Producing policy insights from the model.
- Implementing the changes resulting from model-based understanding and insights.

The processes are represented in terms of stocks, flows between these stocks, and information that defines the values of the flows in SD models (Borshchev and Filippov, 2004). Figure 3.4 presents the general structure of SD models. The information about stocks and flows are given below.

<u>Stocks</u>: They are the main elements of an SD model. They are also known as state variables, accumulations, or levels. They generally represent the processes of realworld that change their value over time with given flow (http://www.anylogic.com/anylogic/help/index.jsp?topic=/com.xj.anylogic.help/). Stocks can vary according to the model. They can be materials, knowledge, money, people, and etc.

<u>Flows</u>: They are other main elements of an SD model. They are also known as rates. They are generally used for defining the rate of flow from one stock to another stock

(http://www.anylogic.com/anylogic/help/index.jsp?topic=/com.xj.anylogic.help/).v Flows are categorized as inflows and outflows.

Inflows: They go from flows to stock. They represents addition to the stock (http://www.anylogic.com/anylogic/help/index.jsp?topic=/com.xj.anylogic.he lp/).

<u>*Outflows:*</u> They go from stock to flows. They represent subtraction from stock (http://www.anylogic.com/anylogic/help/index.jsp?topic=/com.xj.anylogic.he lp/).



Figure 3.4 Stock and flow diagramming notation (Sterman and Sterman, 2000; Tignor W., 2003)

SD modeling helps to build an effective platform for a transdiciplinary dialogue in policy design and learning (Schwaninger et al., 2008). It is a computer simulation model that may be tested systematically in order to find effective policies for overcoming policy resistance(Homer and Hirsch, 2006). It has been applied to issues ranging from corporate strategy to the dynamics of diabetes, from the cold war arms race between the US and USSR to the combat between HIV and the human immune system (Sterman and Sterman, 2000). It has also been used for public health since 1970s (Homer and Hirsch, 2006) due to its capability to analyze the complexity of public health problems.

Examining tobacco use behaviors and tobacco control policies have been complicated and dynamic topic. Because they include so many factors that affect the tobacco use behavior or tobacco controls. There can be several different studies that investigated the tobacco use and control in the literature. Various statistical methods were used in these studies. However, in order to understand endogenous structure of the tobacco use systems and the effects of tobacco control policies, SD modeling can be a well-fitted option. Because SD modeling is only method that is one system thinking approach to tobacco control (Best et al., 2007). SD modeling can help to learn, model, and react to the complexities and dynamism of tobacco use and control system with characterizing them in terms of feedbacks, stock, and flows (Best et al., 2007). For that reason, SD modeling is used for modeling the tobacco control policies by researchers.

In this research thesis, in order to investigate the effectiveness of tobacco control policies that have been implemented by Turkish authorities, an SD model is developed.

3.5 Conclusion

In this chapter of the thesis, basic information that is required for understanding the later chapters is given. Tobacco use and control history of Turkey is presented. Also, this chapter provides information about GATS, application of it to Turkey and the results of the survey for Turkey. In this thesis, GATS 2008 and 2012 reports for Turkey are so helpful for data collection stage of the study. Lastly, the background knowledge for SD modeling is presented in order to explain the reason of using this method for the modeling process.

CHAPTER 4- SYSTEM DEFINITION

4.1 Introduction

In order to investigate the effectiveness of tobacco control policies and some other tobacco associated factors that were surveyed in GATS for Turkey, a system dynamics model is developed. Anylogic University Researcher versionis used for the modeling process of this thesis. In tobacco control system, some of the parameters (such as the effects of policies and factors) that are essential for reaching the objectives of the study cannot be measured or obtained from any source. One way of finding these parameters are calibration experiment. For that reason, in order to find the missing data, a calibration experiment is conducted. After finding missing data for the analysis, a forecasting analysis is performed to find the tobacco use ratio of Turkey in 2016.

This chapter provides information for used software, assumption, setup, and implementation of the model, calibration and forecasting in detail respectively.

4.2 Used Software

System dynamics modeling is used in order to model the tobacco control policies of Turkey for this study. System dynamics modeling can be performed using several different softwares. Anylogic, Stella, Vensim, Vissim are some of them. In this research, Anylogic University Researcher version is used for system dynamics modeling.

Anylogic (http://www.anylogic.com/about-us):

- The first and only tool that can be used for three types of simulation modeling: discrete-event simulation, agent-based simulation, and system dynamics simulation within one modeling language and one model development environment. Figure 4.1 represents the modeling methods in Anylogic software.
- Is fast, easy to use because of the drag and drop capabilities.

- Has specific libraries to make easier the modeling process. It also has a special library for system dynamics modeling.
- Allows adding java code, and 3D animation.

Anylogic is one of the most efficient software for simulation modeling due to the mentioned properties of it. In this study, only system dynamics modeling method is used. For future works, this study can be improved by using other methods with the extended use of Anylogic, too.

New Model							
Choose modeling method or create new model from scratch							
O Start creating a new	model from scra	tch (blank canvas)					
Use template to create to create to create to create the second secon	ate model						
Choose modeling met	hod:						
🚳 System Dynamics				^			
🚳 Discrete Event							
🚳 Discrete Event Net	work-based						
🚳 Agent-based							
🚳 Pedestrian Dynam	ics			~			
You will be able to modify agent based components	y and extend the s	tock and flow diagra	m, and also add disc	rete event and			
	< Back	Next >	Finish	Cancel			

Figure 4.1 Modeling types of AnyLogic

4.3 Model Assumptions

In this subsection, the gathered data and the model assumptions that are essential for building the model are presented in detail.

a) General assumptions about the "Model"

a1) The model consists of the six main factors defined in the GATS 2008 and 2012 of Turkey to investigate. These are:

- Warning labels
- Anti-tobacco information
- Beliefs of people that smoking cause serious illnesses
- Smoke-free environment
- Health care provider effect (for smokers)
- Taxation

In the model, all quit attempts are accepted to happen due to these six factors. Quit attempts because of other elements are not taken into consideration for this study.

a2) The data required for the model is obtained from generally GATS 2008 and 2012 of Turkey. The GATS data is accepted as reliable. Because, the GATS is a credible survey that is applied for different countries all over the world in order to monitor tobacco use and control status of countries.

a3) All quit attempts can be made in three ways. These are:

- Pharmacotherapy,
- Counseling,
- Others (traditional medicines, family pressure and etc. or quit without any assistance).

b) Assumptions about the "Population"

b1) The study focuses on adult population of Turkey. Adult population is defined in GATS reports as people who aged 15 years and older.

b2)Different from the SimSmoke studies (that takes population as current, former and never smokers), population is divided into 2 categories in this research due to the lack of data about new start rate. The categories are:

- Former Smokers (FS),
- Current smokers (CS).

b3) Current smokers are accepted as defined in GATS 2008 of Turkey. Current smokers consistof:

- Occasional Smokers (former daily smokers, never daily smokers),
- Daily Smokers.

b4) Former smokers are accepted as defined in GATSs of Turkey. Former smokers consist of:

- Former Occasional Smokers,
- Former Daily Smokers.

b5) Never smokers are not included in the content of this study.

b6) Initial values of the current and former smokers are taken as given in GATS 2008.

b7) A different model for determining the growth at the population is not developed. Linear interpolation is applied for these using GATS adult population values of 2008 and 2012 of Turkey.

b8) The aging of the youth population (aged 15 years old) is accepted as the only reason of the adult population growth each year.

b9) The percentage of the current smokers among the new aged population (who became 15 years old recently) is calculated using the GYTS 2003 and 2009 values of Turkey for each year.

b10) The current smoker of the population growth (after calculated the current smokers among them) is added on current smokers. The rest of the population growth is accepted as never smokers that are not examined in this study.

b11) The growth at the number of former smokers is not taken into consideration.

c) Assumptions about the "Warning Labels"

Since the percentage of people who noticed warning labels in the last 30 days is given for noticing warning label in the GATS 2008 and 2012 of Turkey, this value is accepted as constant for the whole year in the model presented in this thesis.

d) Assumptions about the "Anti-tobacco Information"

Since the percentage of people who noticed anti-tobacco information in the last 30 days is given for noticing anti-tobacco information in the GATS 2008 and 2012 of Turkey, this value is accepted as constant for the whole year in the model presented in this thesis.

4.4 Model Setup and Implementation

This sub-section of the chapter present:

- Setup process of the model
- Simulation run of the model
- Calibration of the model

4.4.1 Model Setup and Implementation

The details of the SD model setup for Turkey case is given in this section of the study step by step.

An SD model is initially constructed with the determination of stocks and flows.

Stocks & Flows

The stocks of the model (the state variables of the model) are determined as the adult population of Turkey. They are divided into two categories for this study. These are:

- Current smokers that are labeled as "CurrentSmokers" in the model,
- Former smokers that are labeled as "*FormerSmokers*" in the model as presented in figure 4.2.

In order to define initial values of the stocks, the values provided in GATS 2008 for Turkey is used. The GATS 2008 was arranged for 51,151,000 people who aged 15 and over for the year 2008. The number of adults who were current and former smokers among total adult population was given as 31.2% and 15.9% respectively.

For that reason:

• A parameter is constituted for initial population in the model. It is used for representing the initial population characteristics of the model. The number of it is constant. Since the population can change over time. However, initial population only provides information about the population of the model when

model starts to run. The value of this parameter is defined as 51,151 that represent 51,151,000 adult population.

- The initial value of the *CurrentSmokers* is formulated as initial population * 0.312.
- The initial value of the *FormerSmokers* is formulated as initial population*0.159.

Also, the flows are added to the model. There are two different flows for the system:

- *Quit* is the outflow of the *CurrentSmokers* and inflow for the *FormerSmokers*(figure 4.2). It represents the number of current smoker who quitted smoking.
- *Restart* is the outflow of *FormerSmokers* and inflow for the *CurrentSmokers*(figure 4.2). It represents the number of former smokers who restarted smoking.



Figure 4.2 Stocks and flows of the presented model

After addition of the flows to the system, the formulation of the *CurrentSmokers* and *FormerSmokers* that are required for updating processes of the stocks are given below.

The formulation of the CurrentSmokersis generated as:

d(CurrentSmokers)/dt = -Quit + Restart(4.1)

The formulation of the FormerSmokers is generated as:

$$d(FormerSmokers)/dt = +Quit-Restart$$
 (4.2)

Population Growth

In order to represent the population growth in the system, table functions are used.

- *Table functions* help to simply make the values of the table continuous by interpolating and/or extrapolating (http://www.anylogic.com/anylogic/help/index.jsp?topic=/com.xj.anylogic.he lp/).
- Interpolation is known as the process of defining a function that takes on specified values at specified points (http://www.mathworks.com/moler/interp.pdf).
- *Extrapolation* is known as the process finding a value beyond a set of given values (http://mathandreadinghelp.org/math_help_extrapolation.html).

The steps of the addition of the population growth are given below.

- One table function is used for the change at the total number of adult population over time. Two values that are obtained from GATS 2008 and 2012 of Turkey are entered to the table function. The values are 51,151 and 54,548 respectively. And, linear interpolation is made for the range and extrapolation is made for the out of range.
- The other table function is used for defining the percentage of the current smokers among the new aged population (who has recently became 15 years old new) over time. Two values that are taken from GYTS 2003 and 2009 of Turkey are entered to the table function. The values are 0.069 and 0.084 respectively. And, linear interpolation is made for the range and extrapolation is made for the out of range.

The growth at the population is only added to the *CurrentSmokers* after calculation of current smokers of new aged population. In order to add population growth to the CurrentSmokers, an event that is called as "*PopulationChange*" is defined in the system. For this event, an action is determined using java code that is to add population growth to the system.

The pseudo code of population growth is as given below.

Control 1

```
IF (TimeIncrease!=0)

CurrentSmokers = CurrentSmokers + (PopulationChangeTable(TimeIncrease) -

PopulationChangeTable(TimeIncrease-1)) * YouthSmokersTable(TimeIncrease)

END IF

TimeIncrease++
```

The policies and other factors of the model are added to the model one by one. The next subsections provide information for the implementation processes.

Figure 4.3 represents the proposed model.



Figure 4.3 The proposed model.

Warning Labels Factor

In this part of the model, the warning labels factor is considered.

- First, a variable is generated for representing the current smokers who noticed warning labels on cigarette packages. The variable is named as "*NoticedWarningLabels*".
- In order to obtain the percentage of current smokers who noticed health warnings, a table function that is called as "*NoticedWarningLabelsTable*" is built with the two values taken from GATS 2008 and 2012 for Turkey. These values are 0.951 and 0.943 respectively. And, linear interpolation is made for the range and extrapolation is made for the out of range.
- The *NoticedWarningLabels* variable is updated with the formulation that is given below.

- Another variable is generated for representing the opinions of current smokers about quitting because of noticing warning labels. The variable is called as "*ThoughtQuitBOFWarningLabels*".
- A parameter that is named as "*WarningLabelEffect*" is generated.
- The variable, *ThoughtQuitBOFWarningLabels* is updated with the following formulation.

NoticedWarningLabels*WarningLabelEffect (4.4)

Anti-Tobacco Information Factor

In this part of the model, the anti-tobacco information factor is considered.

- Primarily, a variable is created for representing the current smokers who noticed anti-tobacco information somewhere (television, radio, billboard, and etc.). The variable is named as "*NoticedAntiCigaretteInformation*".
- In order to obtain the percentage of current smokers who noticed anti-tobacco information somewhere, a table function that is called as "*NoticedAntiCigaretteInformationTable*" is built with the two values of GATS 2008 and 2012 of Turkey. These values are 0.916 and 0.941 respectively. And, linear interpolation is made for the range and extrapolation is made for the out of range.

- The *NoticedAntiCigaretteInformation* variable is updated with the formula: *CurrentSmokers* NoticedAntiCigaretteInformationTable(Time)* (4.5)
- Another variable is generated for representing the opinion of current smokers about quitting because of noticing anti-tobacco information. The variable is called as "*ThoughtQuitBOFAntiCigaretteInformation*".
- The parameter that is called like "*AntiInfoRate*" is create in the model.
- The *ThoughtQuitBOFAntiCigaretteInformation*variable is updated with the following formulation: *NoticedAntiCigaretteInformation* * *AntiInfoRate* (4.6)

Beliefs of People That Smoking Cause Serious Illnesses Factor

Beliefs of people that smoking cause serious illnesses is considered in this subsection of the chapter.

- A variable that represent the current smokers who believe that smoking cause serious illnesses is created. It is named as "BelieveThatSmokingCauseSeriousIllnesses".
- For obtaining the percentage of current smokers who believe that smoking • causes serious illnesses, а table function that is called as "BelieveTobaccoDamageTable" is built with the two values of GATS 2008 and 2012 of Turkey. These values are 0.974 and 0.960 respectively. And, linear interpolation is made for the range and extrapolation is made for the out of range.
- The *BelieveThatSmokingCauseSeriousIllnesses* variable is updated with the formulation:

```
CurrentSmokers * BelieveTobaccoDamageTable(Time) (4.7)
```

- For representing the thought of current smokers about quitting because of beliefs about tobacco damages on health, a variable that is called as "ThoughtQuitBOFTobaccoDamage" is created.
- A parameter that is named as "*HealthDamageRate*" is generated.
- The *ThoughtQuitBOFTobaccoDamage*variable is updated with the following formulation:

BelieveThatSmokingCauseSeriousIllnesses * HealthDamageRate (4.8)

Smoke-Free Environment Factor

The smoke-free environment policy is considered in this subsection.

- A variable that is called as "*SupportSmokeFreeEnvironment*" is created in order to represent current smokers who support smoke-free environment.
- According to the Smoke-Free Environment Policies Report of the Ministry of Turkey, 81.0% of the current smokers support the laws about smoke-free environment (http://havanikoru.org.tr/). For that reason, the *SupportSmokeFreeEnvironment* variable is updated with the formulation: *CurrentSmokers* * 0.81 (4.9)
- In order to represent the thought of current smokers about quitting because of smoke-free environment regulations, another variable that is named as *"ThoughtQuitDueToSFE"* is generated.
- The "*SFEEffectRate*" parameter is also created.
- The *ThoughtQuitDueToSFE* variable is updated with the following formulation:

Taxation Factor

The taxation policy is considered in this subsection.

- "*NoticedTaxation*" variable is created in order to find the current smokers who noticed taxation. According to the assumption of taxation, all current smokershas assumed to notice taxation. Thus, the *NoticedTaxation* variable is equal to the number of *CurrentSmokers*.
- Another variable is generated in order to find the thought of current smokers about quitting because of taxation. The variable is called as "*ThoughtQuitBOFTaxation*".
- A parameter which is "*TaxationEffect*" is generated.
- The *ThoughtQuitBOFTaxation variable* is updated with the following formulation:

NoticedTaxation * TaxationEffect (4.11)

The Effect of Health Care Provider Advise Factor

The effect of health care provider (HCP) advice factor is considered, too.

- "*VisitedHCP*" variable is created in order to find number of visitor who visited a health care provider.
- "*LessThan12Months*" parameter is also created. This parameter represents the percentage of *FormerSmokers* who have been abstinent for less than 12 months.
- In order to obtain the percentage of current smokers and former smokers (who have been abstinent for less than 12 months) who visited a HCP, a table function that is called as "*VisitedHCPTable*" is built with the two values taken from GATS 2008 and 2012 for Turkey. These values are 0.469 and 0.408 respectively. And, linear interpolation is made for the range and extrapolation is made for the out of range.
- According to the GATS 2008 and 2012, the number of HCP visitor is calculated using current and former smokers (who have been abstinent for less than 12 months). For that reason, the value of *VisitedHCP* is updated with the formulation:

(CurrentSmokers+FormerSmokers)*(LessThan12Months)*VisitedHCPTable (Time) (4.12)

- "*AskedByHCPIfASmoker*" variable is created in order to find how many HCP visitors are asked if he/she is a smoker by HCP.
- For finding the percentage of HCP visitors to be asked if he/she is a smoker by HCP, a table function that is called as "*AskedByHCPIfASmokerTable*" is made with two values taken from GATS 2008 and 2012 for Turkey. These values are 0.49 and 0.514 respectively. And, linear interpolation is made for the range and extrapolation is made for the out of range.
- The AskedByHCPIfASmoker variable is updated with the formulation: VisitedHCP * AskedByHCPIfASmokerTable(Time) (4.13)
- "*AdvisedToQuitByHCP*" variable is generated in order to find the number of smokers who advised to quit by HCP among people who asked if he/she is a smoker by HCP.
- "*VisitorSmokerRate*" parameter is also created in order to find the number of current smokers among people who asked if he/she is a smoker by HCP.

- Then, "*AdvisedToQuitByHCPTable*" table function is built with two values of GATS 2008 and 2012 of Turkey. These values are 0.831 and 0.835 respectively. And, linear interpolation is made for the range and extrapolation is made for the out of range.
- The AdvisedToQuitByHCP variable is updated with the formulation: AskedByHCPIfASmoker* VisitorSmokerRate*AdvisedToQuitByHCPTable(Time) (4.14)
- "ThoughtQuitBOFHCPAdvise" variable is generated in order to find the thought of current smokers about quitting due to HCP advise.
- "*HCPEffectRate*" parameter is created.
- The *ThoughtQuitBOFHCPAdvise* variable is updated with the formulation: *AdvisedToQuitByHCP* * *HCPEffectRate* (4.15)

<u>Quit Attempt</u>

In this sub-section of the study, the modeling of the quit attempts is presented.

- Primarily, a variable that is called as "*MadeAQuitAttempt*" is added into model in order to find the number of people who made a quit attempt due to the mentioned factors.
- "AttemptRate" parameter is also created.
- The *MadeAQuitAttempt* variable is updated with the formulation: (*ThoughtQuitBOFWarningLabels+ThoughtQuitBOFAntiCigaretteInformatio n+ThoughtQuitBOFTobaccoDamage+ThoughtQuitBOFHCPAdvise+Though tQuitBOFDueToSFE+ThougthQuitBOFTaxation*)*AttemptRate (4.16)
- GATS studies categorized the ways of quit attempt in three groups: pharmacotherapy, counseling, and others. In order to investigate the number of people that used these three ways, "*Pharmacotherapy*", "*Counseling*", and "*Others*" variables are created.
- "PharmacothearphyTable", "CounselingTable", and "OthersTable" table functions are built with two values taken from GATS 2008 and 2012 for Turkey. These values are 0.093 and 0.136 for pharmacotherapy, 0.018 and 0.08 for counseling, and 0.889 and 0.784 for others respectively. And, linear interpolations are made for the ranges and extrapolations are made for the out of ranges.

- The *Pharmacotherapy* variable is updated with the formulation: *MadeAQuitAttempt* * *PharmacotherapyTable(Time)* (4.17)
- The *Counseling variable* is updated with the formulation:
 *MadeAQuitAttempt * CounselingTable(Time)* (4.18)
- The Others variable is updated with the formulation:
 MadeAQuitAttempt * OthersTable(Time)
 (4.19)

Quit & Restart

- Making a quit attempt does not mean that all attempts will end with success. For that reason, "*QuitRate*" parameter is added into the model in order to find the percentage of successful quit attempts.
- The *Quit* flow formulations become as given below *Quit*= (*Pharmacotherapy* + *Counseling* + *Others*) * *QuitRate* (4.20)
- Also, some of former smokers can restart smoking. In order to calculate the rate of this amount, "RestartRate" parameter is created.
- Thus, *Restart* flow formulation become as given below. *Restart = FormerSmokers * RestartRate* (4.21)

4.4.2 Calibration of the Model

In the defined model, there are 12 different parameters. These parameters are:

- InitialPopulation
- QuitRate
- RestartRate
- AttemptRate
- VisitorSmokersRate
- LessThan12Months
- HealthDamageRate
- AntiInfoRate
- WarningLabelEffect
- SFEEffectRate
- HCPEffectRate
- TaxationRate

In a real-world problem, some of the parameters that are important for solving the problem, may not be measured or obtained from any source due to the complexity of the problem (Homer and Hirsch, 2006). Finding out the unknown parameters' values is the most crucial step of this study because the six of them represents the effectiveness of the policies that is crucial for success of this thesis. One of the ways of finding the values of missing parameters is performing a *Calibration Experiment*. The calibration experiment uses the historical data that is defined by user(s) and searches in order to find the best combination for the missing parameters (http://www.anylogic.com/anylogic/help/index.jsp?topic=/com.xj.anylogic.help/).

Among them, only the initial population value is known. In order to determine the values of others, the required data was not found. For this study, the parameters apart from *InitialPopulation* are calibrated to find out the missing values of them.

In order to perform the calibration experiment:

- The minimum and maximum values of the parameters are defined. For this study, minimum values of all parameters are determined as 0.0001 in order to avoid from finding the values of parameters as 0. Because all of the policies are influential on quitting smoking. However, the degree of their effects can differ. The maximum value of all parameters are taken as 1 (figure 4.4).
- The calibration experiment is performed using historical and current dataset of *CurrentSmokers*.
- Calibration experiment is run.

The next sub-section presents the simulation run of the model.

🔲 Properties 🛛 📮 Cor	nsole								
S Calibration - Optimization Experiment									
General	Name: Calibratio	on	Main acti	ve object class (root):	Main	*			
Advanced									
Model Time	Kandom number generation:								
Presentation	Random seed (unique simulation runs)								
Window	○ Fixed seed (reproducible simulation runs) Seed value: 1								
Constraints									
Replications	Objective: minimize () maximize difference(root.CurrentSmokersDS, CurrentSmokersHistoric)								
Description									
Parameters:									
	Parameter	Type	Min	Max	Step	Suggeste			
	InitialPopulation	fixed	51151						
	AttemptRate	continuous	0.0001	1					
	RestartRate	continuous	0.0001	1					
	AntiInfoRate	continuous	0.0001	1					
	HealthDgeRate	continuous	0.0001	1					
	VisitorkerRate	continuous	0.0001	1					
	HCPEffectRate	continuous	0.0001	1					
	SFEEffectRate	continuous	0.0001	1					
	TaxationEffect	continuous	0.0001	1					
	QuitRate	continuous	0.0001	1					
	Lessthamonths	continuous	0.0001	1					
	warningEffect	continuous	0.0001	1					

Figure 4.4 The ranges of the calibrated parameters

4.4.3 Simulation Run of the Model

After calibration process, the model is run with the obtained values of missing values.

- First, simulation time is set for four years in order to obtain the values of year 2012. The results show us the effects of the investigated policies and factors.
- Second, simulation time is set for 8 years in order to forecast the tobacco usage rate of Turkey for the year 2016.

4.5 Conclusion

In this part of the thesis, the characteristics of the used software, model assumptions, and setup, calibration and simulation run processes of the proposed model is presented.

CHAPTER 5-RESULTS & DISCUSSIONS

5.1 Introduction

In this chapter of the thesis, the results of the calibration and simulation runs of the proposed model are discussed.

5.2 Results of Calibration Experiment

Calibration experiment was conducted with 500 iterations. Figure 5.1 presents the current (that represents the last obtained values (500th iteration's values)) and best values of calibrated parameters. The results that are obtained from the calibration experiment are explained below.

- AttemptRate was found as 0.721. According to this, 72.1% of the current smokers who thought about quitting due to the effects of six factors of the model make a quit attempt.
- RestartRate was 0.375 according to the results of calibration. Thus, 37.5% of former smokers restart smoking.
- QuitRate was equal to 0.328. That means that 32.8% of the current smoker quit smoking.
- LessThan12Months parameter was calibrated with 0,565. This parameter represents the percentage of former smokers who have been abstinent from smoking less than 12 months. According to the results, 56.5% of the former smokers have been abstinent from smoking less than 12 months.
- VisitorSmoker parameter represents the percentage of current smokers among people who asked if he/she is a smoker by health care provider. The value of the parameter was found as 0.169 at the end of the study. Thus 16.9 % of them are current smokers.



Figure 5.1 The results of calibration experiment

The remaining parameters are associated with the main factors of the model. These factors are warning labels, anti-tobacco information, smoke-free environment, taxation, beliefs about tobacco damages on human health, and health care provider advises. Thus, the values of these parameters represent the impacts of factors on thoughts of current smokers about quitting. The calibration results of are given below.

- According to the calibration results, the health care provider effect is relatively high among modeled six factors. Because the value of HCPEffectRate was found as 0.925. That means that 92.5% of smokers who were advised to quit smoking by health care provider, thought about quitting due to the advice.
- The belief of people that smoking causes serious illnesses is another high parameter that affects the opinions of current smokers about quitting. Because the value of the HealthDamageRate parameter was found as 0.243. Thus, 24.3% of smokers who believe that tobacco cause serious illnesses thought about quitting due to this.
- Also, TaxationRate parameter was equal to 0.216. Regarding this value, 21.6% of smokers thought about quitting because of taxation.
- AntiInfoRate was calibrated to 0.214. Therefore, 21.4% of smokers who noticed anti-tobacco information somewhere thought about quitting due to anti-tobacco information.
- SFEEffectRate was found as 0.187. We can say that 18.7% of smokers who supports smoke-free environments regulations thought about quitting because of smoke-free environment laws.
- Lastly, 17.1 % of smoker who noticed warning labels thought about quitting due to them because the value of WarningLabelEffect parameter was equal to 0.171.

5.3 Results of Simulation Runs

After calibration experiment, the default values of the parameters are updated with calibration results. Then, simulation time is adjusted from 0 to 4 in order to see the difference of the state values from real estate values. Time 0 represents the year 2008 for Turkey. Time 4 represents the year 2012 of Turkey.

After simulation run, the total number of current smokers was found 27.7% (15113.85 current smokers) of adult population when time was equal to 4 (2012). According to the GATS 2012 results for Turkey, the number of current smokers was equal to 27.1% (14782.508 current smokers) of adult population of 2012. There is 0.6% deviation between the presented model and real value. Thus, we may say that the model can give close values to the real state of Turkey.

After comparison of the model results and real values, simulation time of the simulation is changed from 0 to 8 in order to find the number of possible tobacco users of Turkey. The results of the simulation run are given below for 2016.

- The adult population will reach to 57,944,999.
- The percentage of current smokers will decrease to 26.3%. That means there will be still 15,249,859 current smokers
- The number of former smokers will reach to 9,472,205 from 2008 to 2016 (due to cumulative increase assumption).

Table 5.1 presents the number of people who thought about quitting because of each factor that found from the simulation runs.

- According to the results, the number of people who believe that smoking causes serious illnesses thought about quitting due to the damages of tobacco is the highest when compared to other factors. Thus, beliefs of people are the most important factor that leads smokers to quit.
- Taxation gets the second place among all factors. Because the number of people who thought about quitting because of taxation is relatively high, too.
- Anti-tobacco information policy follows taxation and takes the third important place.
- The numbers of smokers who thought about quitting because of the first three factor of the model are relatively close comparing with others.
- The effect of warning labels on cigarette package comes after anti-tobacco information. However, there is a considerable decrease at the number of affected smokers from this policy comparing with the number of smokers from anti-tobacco information.
- Smoke-free environments regulations take the fifth place among them.
- The health care providers' advices are the least effective one among them. Also, the number of smokers who are affected from it is relatively low comparing with other factors of this model.

According to this ranking, we can say that the health concerns of the smokers may lead them about thinking to quit more than other issues. Also, taxation can be theother important policy because the economics of smokers are directly affected from this policy. Smokers who have low economic conditions may need to give up smoking due to the increase at the price of sales of tobacco products.

In addition, anti-tobacco information may also be an effective policy to lead people to quit. Because they can be seen at television, radio, newspapers, internet, and etc. The usage area of them is really wide. It is easy to reach relatively high number of smokers. And, some of them have considerable visual effect. The reason of the lower effect of warning labels than anti-tobacco information may be the lack of visualization or voice messages. Smoke-free environments are also an effective method. However the effect of them to quit is less than the first three factors. The reason of this may that the main aim of this policy is protecting people being second-hand smokers. And, current smokers may easily find a different place to smoke.

Lastly, the reason of being the least effective factor to make people think about quit for advices of health care provider may be that the analysis was made on people who went to health care services for any reason. Thus, the most of the visitors aim may not be take counseling for quitting smoking. They may look for a solution for other health problems.

The GATSs for Turkey does not include information for representing the opinions of current smokers to quit due to each relevant policies. However, the surveys pointed that the most common factor for cessations was health problems. The second factor was "being asked to quit by family". The third factor was prices of tobacco products. And, the last one was anti-tobacco information. Thus, we may say that these four factors were determined as the most important factors to lead current smokers to make a quit attempt respectively. Correspondingly, the results taken from GATS for Turkey support the results of this research thesis. Our results classified the factors investigated in the thesis respectively: the beliefs of tobacco damages on health, taxation, and anti-tobacco information.

	Believe that smoking causes serious illnesses		Τa	axation	Anti info	-tobacco rmation	Warr	ning labels	Sm envi	oke-free ronments	Heal provid	th-care er advices	T	DTAL
	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number
2008	23.64	3777235	21.58	3447168	19.58	3128369	16.24	2595287	15.11	2414327	3.84	613621	100	15976007
2009	23.55	3651735	21.57	3344654	19.71	3056046	16.20	2512811	15.12	2345439	3.85	596798	100	15507483
2010	23.47	3566038	21.57	3277985	19.84	3015427	16.17	2457533	15.13	2298687	3.82	580570	100	15196240
2011	23.39	3546005	21.58	3271411	19.99	3029637	16.15	2447424	15.13	2294077	3.76	569747	100	15158301
2012	23.32	3507632	21.59	3247807	20.13	3027888	16.12	2424623	15.14	2277525	3.69	555070	100	15040545
2013	23.25	3514899	21.61	3266445	20.28	3065491	16.10	2433365	15.15	2290595	3.60	544585	100	15115380
2014	23.19	3490281	21.63	3255479	20.43	3075358	16.08	2420042	15.17	2282905	3.52	529539	100	15053604
2015	23.12	3506573	21.65	3282732	20.58	3121429	16.06	2435103	15.18	2302016	3.42	518311	100	15166164
2016	23.06	3485792	21.66	3275351	20.73	3134692	16.04	2424442	15.19	2296840	3.32	502326	100	15119443

Table 5.1 The number of current smoker who thought about quitting smoking due to each of the tobacco control factors

The ways to make a quit attempt were also added to the model. Table 5.2 represents the number of smokers that made a quit attempt according to used quit attempt ways. As seen in the table 5.2, the number of people using pharmacotherapy and counseling increases according to the years while others (quit with traditional medicine, family pressure, pregnancy or without assistance) decreases. Thus, we may say that the number of smoker who apply for professional help to quit increases.

	Pharmacotherapy		Counse	eling	Others To		Total	al	
	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	Number	%	
2008	1071440	9.30	207376	1.80	10242048	88.90	11520864	100	
2009	1160018	10.38	374560	3.35	9646317	86.27	11180895	100	
2010	1254518	11.45	536868	4.90	9165103	83.65	10956489	100	
2011	1368874	12.52	704929	6.45	8855332	81.03	10929135	100	
2012	1474816	13.60	867539	8.00	8501879	78.40	10844234	100	
2013	1599309	14.67	1040777	9.55	8258103	75.78	10898189	100	
2014	1709449	15.75	1204755	11.10	7939443	73.15	10853647	100	
2015	1839781	16.83	1383253	12.65	7711770	70.52	10934804	100	
2016	1951300	17.90	1547959	14.20	7401859	67.90	10901118	100	

Table 5.2 Distribution of approaches used to quit

5.4 Conclusion

In this part of the thesis, the results obtained from calibration and simulation runs of the model are presented. The effects of the investigated policies and factors of the model are discussed and the results of the forecasting analysis are also given.

CHAPTER 6- CONCLUSION

6.1 Introduction

This thesis is divided into six chapters. In Chapter 1, the problem statement, objectives of the study were presented. Chapter 2 reviewed the associated literature in the area of tobacco control. In Chapter 3, the background knowledge about tobacco control history of Turkey, Global Tobacco Adult Survey (GATS), and System Dynamics were given. Chapter 4 presented information about the used software, and described the setup and calibration stages of the proposed model. In Chapter 5, results of the calibration and simulation of the models were discussed. In this final chapter, an overview for the results and future works are presented.

6.2 An Overview of the Results

Tobacco epidemic has been one of the most crucial problems of the world that threaten the lives of people. It is a well known fact that millions of people die due to tobacco epidemic every year. In order to reduce the prevalence and damages of tobacco use, several different policies have been applied at government level. Turkey has been one of the leading countries that have been applying tobacco control policies firmly in order to avoid the negative effects of it.

In this thesis, the major tobacco control policies that have been implemented by Turkish authorities and some tobacco use associated factors were modeled using System Dynamics modeling. The main objective of this thesis was to investigate the impacts of the policies and other factors on the opinions of smokers about quitting and to forecast the tobacco use status of Turkey for 2016.

The results for the effective policies and factor analysis of the proposed model indicated those:

• The number of smokers who thought about quitting due to their beliefs about the damages of tobacco use on human health, was the highest. Thus, the effect of smokers' beliefs about the damage of tobacco was the most crucial one.

- The effect of taxation followed it. The increase at the price of tobacco products affected smokers' thought about quitting due to this increase.
- The effect of anti-tobacco information was the third effective one when compared to others.
- The fourth effective component of the model was the smoke-free environment policy. The main reason of the lower effectiveness of this policy could be that this policy is mainly implemented to protect people from being second-hand smokers. Thus, the target population of this policy may be non-smokers instead of current smokers.
- The lowest effective component was the advice of health care providers. the reason of this may be the low number of people who visit to health-care providers. Because the 92.5% of current smokers who advised to quit by a health care provider think about quitting according to results. According to the percentages, the effect of health care provider advice is the highest. However, the effectiveness classification was made regarding the number of people. The number of people who think about quitting due to health care providers' advice was the lowest when compared to others. For that reason it took the last place in the comparison.

The results for the forecasting the tobacco use status of Turkey in 2016 mainly pointed those:

- The adult population will be around 58 million in 2016.
- Although the number of current smokers will increase, tobacco use rate will decrease to 26.3% among adult population of Turkey in 2016.

According to the results, we can expect that the prevalence of tobacco use will reduce under the constant effect of applied policies. However, there will be still more than 15 million adults who smoke currently. In order to increase the quit rate, policy makers may apply more effective policies. The results of this thesis may help them while developing policies. According to results, the most effective factors were found as the beliefs of people that tobacco damages on health, taxation, and antitobacco information. Thus, policy makers may stress on policies that can explain the harms of tobacco use more effective, develop different taxation policies, and improve anti-tobacco information policies.

6.3 Future Work

,

In this thesis, main tobacco control policies and tobacco use associated factors were investigated. The model can be expanded to examine more specific tobacco control policies such as pictorial warning labels, punishments due to smoking at forbidden areas, and etc.

The demographic characteristics of the adult population were not taken into account in this study. The future studies can focus on this gap of the presented study, too.

In this study, calibration experiment was performed using really few data due to the lack of data, future studies can search for more data in order to build a better model and obtain more reliable results.

REFERENCES

- Ahmad, S. (2005). Increasing excise taxes on cigarettes in California: a dynamic simulation of health and economic impacts. *Preventive Medicine*, 41(1), 276– 283.
- Ahmad, S., Franz, G. A. (2008). Raising taxes to reduce smoking prevalence in the US: A simulation of the anticipated health and economic impacts. *Public Health*, 122(1), 3–10.
- Bader, P., Boisclair, D., Ferrence, R. (2011). Effects of Tobacco Taxation and Pricing on Smoking Behavior in High Risk Populations: A Knowledge Synthesis. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 8(11), 4118–4139.
- Baltagi, B. H., Levin, D. (1986). Estimating Dynamic Demand for Cigarettes Using Panel Data: The Effects of Bootlegging, Taxation and Advertising Reconsidered. *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 68(1), 148–155.
- Baltagi, B. H., and Levin, D. (1992). Cigarette taxation: Raising revenues and reducing consumption. *Structural Change and Economic Dynamics*, *3*(2), 321–335.
- Banks, J., Carson II, J. S. C., Nelson, B. L., Nicol, D. M. (2004). *Discrete-Event System Simulation* (4th. ed.). Prentice Hall.
- Bansal-Travers, M., Fong, G. T., Quah, A. C. K., Sansone, G., Pednekar, M. S., Gupta, P. C., Sinha, D. N. (2014). Awareness of pro-tobacco advertising and promotion and beliefs about tobacco use: Findings from the Tobacco Control Policy (TCP) India Pilot Survey. *Journal of Epidemiology and Global Health*, 4(4), 303–313.
- Bansal-Travers, M., Hammond, D., Smith, P., Cummings, K. M. (2011). The impact of cigarette pack design, descriptors, and warning labels on risk perception in the U.S. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 40(6), 674–682.
- Beede, P., Lawson, R. (1992). The effect of plain packages on the perception of cigarette health warnings. *Public Health*, 106(4), 315–322.

- Best, A., Clark, P. I., Leischow, S. J., Trochim, W. M. K. (2007). Greater Than the Sum: Systems Thinking in Tobacco control [Report Document or other Monograph]. Retrieved December 10, 2014, from http://cancercontrol.cancer.gov/tcrb/monographs/18/index.html
- Biener, L., Reimer, R. L., Wakefield, M., Szczypka, G., Rigotti, N. A., Connolly, G. (2006). Impact of smoking cessation aids and mass media among recent quitters. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 30(3), 217–224.
- Bilir, N., Özcebe, H., Ergüder, T., Mauer-Stender, K. (2012). Tobacco Control in Turkey; Story of Commitment and Leadership. WHO Euro.
- Borgerding, M., Klus, H. (2005). Analysis of complex mixtures Cigarette smoke. *Experimental and Toxicologic Pathology*, 57, Supplement 1, 43–73.
- Borshchev, A., Filippov, A. (2004). From System Dynamics and Discrete Event to Practical Agent Based Modeling: Reasons, Techniques, Tools. Presented at the The 22nd International Conference of the System Dynamics Society. Oxford, England.
- Boyle, P., Maisonneuve, P. (1995). Lung cancer and tobacco smoking. *Lung Cancer*, *12*(3), 167–181.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). (2005). Annual smokingattributable mortality, years of potential life lost, and productivity losses--United States, 1997-2001. *MMWR. Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report*, 54(25), 625–628.
- Chen, C.-M., Chang, K.-L., Lin, L. (2013). Re-examining the price sensitivity of demand for cigarettes with quantile regression. *Addictive Behaviors*, 38(12), 2801–2804.
- Ciancio, A., Mukerji, K. G. (2008). Integrated Management of Diseases Caused by Fungi, Phytoplasma and Bacteria. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Conti, C. R. (1989). President's page: The American college of cardiology and a smoke-free America. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology*, 14(1), 262–262.
- Cook, D., Strachan, D. (1999). Summary of effects of parental smoking on the respiratory health of children and implications for research. *Thorax*, 54(4), 357–366.

- Da Costa e Silva, V. L., Fishburn, B. (2004). Tobacco use and control: determinants of consumption, intervention strategies, and the role of the tobacco industry. *Toxicology*, *198*(1-3), 9–18.
- DeCicca, P., Kenkel, D., Mathios, A. (2008). Cigarette taxes and the transition from youth to adult smoking: Smoking initiation, cessation, and participation. *Journal of Health Economics*, 27(4), 904–917.
- DeCicca, P., McLeod, L. (2008). Cigarette taxes and older adult smoking: Evidence from recent large tax increases. *Journal of Health Economics*, 27(4), 918–929.
- Dietz, N. A., Delva, J., Woolley, M. E., Russello, L. (2008). The reach of a youthoriented anti-tobacco media campaign on adult smokers. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 93(1-2), 180–184.
- Durkin, S., Bayly, M., Cotter, T., Mullin, S., Wakefield, M. (2013). Potential effectiveness of anti-smoking advertisement types in ten low and middle income countries: do demographics, smoking characteristics and cultural differences matter? *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 98, 204–213.
- Durmusoglu, Z.D.U., Ciftci, P.K. (2014). A study of factors affecting the tobacco use. Joint Symposium on 44th Computers and Industrial Engineering (CIE44) and 9th Intelligent Manufacturing and Service Systems (IMSS14), Istanbul, Turkey,1287-1295.
- Eldridge, G. D., Cropsey, K. L. (2009). Smoking Bans and Restrictions in U.S. Prisons and Jails: Consequences for Incarcerated Women. *American Journal* of Preventive Medicine, 37(2, Supplement), 179–180.
- Emery, S., White, M. M., Pierce, J. P. (2001). Does cigarette price influence adolescent experimentation? *Journal of Health Economics*, 20(2), 261–270.
- Ezzati, M., Henley, S. J., Thun, M. J., Lopez, A. D. (2005). Role of Smoking in Global and Regional Cardiovascular Mortality. *Circulation*, *112*(4), 489–497.
- Farrelly, M. C., Loomis, B. R., Kuiper, N., Han, B., Gfroerer, J., Caraballo, R. S., Couzens, G. L. (2014). Are tobacco control policies effective in reducing young adult smoking? *The Journal of Adolescent Health: Official Publication* of the Society for Adolescent Medicine, 54(4), 481–486.
- Forrester, J. W. (1961). Industrial dynamics. Wiley.
- Frieden, T. R., Bloomberg, M. R. (2007). How to prevent 100 million deaths from tobacco. *Lancet*, 369(9574), 1758–1761.

- Gallus, S., Schiaffino, A., Vecchia, C. L., Townsend, J., Fernandez, E. (2006). Price and cigarette consumption in Europe. *Tobacco Control*, *15*(2), 114–119.
- General, U. S. P. H. S. O. of the S. (1964). Smoking and Health [Official reports]. Retrieved December 7, 2014, from http://profiles.nlm.nih.gov/NN/B/B/M/Q/
- Hammond, D., Fong, G. T., Borland, R., Cummings, K. M., McNeill, A., Driezen, P. (2007). Text and graphic warnings on cigarette packages: findings from the international tobacco control four country study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 32(3), 202–209.
- Homer, J. B., Hirsch, G. B. (2006). System Dynamics Modeling for Public Health: Background and Opportunities. *American Journal of Public Health*, 96(3), 452–458.
- Levy, D., de Almeida, L. M., Szklo, A. (2012). The Brazil SimSmoke Policy Simulation Model: The Effect of Strong Tobacco Control Policies on Smoking Prevalence and Smoking-Attributable Deaths in a Middle Income Nation. *PLoS Med*, 9(11), e1001336.
- Levy, D., Gallus, S., Blackman, K., Carreras, G., La Vecchia, C., Gorini, G. (2012). Italy SimSmoke: the effect of tobacco control policies on smoking prevalence and smoking attributable deaths in Italy. *BMC Public Health*, *12*, 709.
- Levy, D., Rodriguez-Buno, R. L., Hu, T.-W., Moran, A. E. (2014). The potential effects of tobacco control in China: projections from the China SimSmoke simulation model. *BMJ*, *348*, 1134–1134.
- Levy, D. T., Bauer, J. E., Lee, H. (2006). Simulation Modeling and Tobacco Control: Creating More Robust Public Health Policies. *American Journal of Public Health*, 96(3), 494–498.
- Levy, D. T., Benjakul, S., Ross, H., Ritthiphakdee, B. (2008). The role of tobacco control policies in reducing smoking and deaths in a middle income nation: results from the Thailand SimSmoke simulation model. *Tobacco Control*, 17(1), 53–59.
- Levy, D. T., Blackman, K., Currie, L. M., Mons, U. (2013). Germany SimSmoke: the effect of tobacco control policies on future smoking prevalence and smokingattributable deaths in Germany. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research: Official Journal of the Society for Research on Nicotine and Tobacco*, 15(2), 465– 473.

- Levy, D. T., Boyle, R. G., Abrams, D. B. (2012). The role of public policies in reducing smoking: the Minnesota SimSmoke tobacco policy model. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 43(5 Suppl 3), 179–186.
- Levy, D. T., Cho, S., Kim, Y.-M., Park, S., Suh, M.-K., Kam, S. (2010). SimSmoke model evaluation of the effect of tobacco control policies in Korea: the unknown success story. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100(7), 1267– 1273.
- Levy, D. T., Nikolayev, L., Mumford, E. (2005). Recent trends in smoking and the role of public policies: results from the SimSmoke tobacco control policy simulation model. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 100(10), 1526–1536.
- Levy, D. T., Nikolayev, L., Mumford, E., Compton, C. (2005). The Healthy People 2010 smoking prevalence and tobacco control objectives: results from the SimSmoke tobacco control policy simulation model (United States). *Cancer Causes & Control: CCC*, 16(4), 359–371.
- Levy, D. T., Ross, H., Kmetova, A., Kralikova, E., Stoklosa, M., Blackman, K. (2012). *The Czech Republic SimSmoke*: The Effect of Tobacco Control Policies on Smoking Prevalence and Smoking Attributable Deaths in the Czech Republic. *International Scholarly Research Notices*.
- Lewit, E. M., Coate, D. (1982). The potential for using excise taxes to reduce smoking. *Journal of Health Economics*, 1(2), 121–145.
- Macal, C. M. (2010). To agent-based simulation from System Dynamics. In *Simulation Conference (WSC), Proceedings of the 2010 Winter*, 371–382.
- Mack, T. M., Yu, M. C., Hanisch, R., Henderson, B. E. (1986). Pancreas Cancer and Smoking, Beverage Consumption, and Past Medical History. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 76(1), 49–60.
- Maslennikova, G. Y., Oganov, R. G., Boytsov, S. A., Ross, H., Huang, A.-T., Near, A., Levy, D. T. (2014). Russia SimSmoke: the long-term effects of tobacco control policies on smoking prevalence and smoking-attributable deaths in Russia. *Tobacco Control*, 23(6), 484–490.
- McCool, J., Webb, L., Cameron, L. D., Hoek, J. (2012). Graphic warning labels on plain cigarette packs: will they make a difference to adolescents? *Social Science & Medicine (1982)*, 74(8), 1269–1273.

McNabola, A., Broderick, B., Johnston, P., Gill, L. (2005). New Directions: Improved atmosphere in pubs due to the smoking ban in Ireland. *Atmospheric Environment*, 39(26), 4815–4816.

Ministry of Health. (2010). Global Adult Tobacco Survey, Turkey Report (No. 803).

- Nagelhout, G. E., Levy, D. T., Blackman, K., Currie, L., Clancy, L., Willemsen, M. C. (2012). The effect of tobacco control policies on smoking prevalence and smoking-attributable deaths. Findings from the Netherlands SimSmoke Tobacco Control Policy Simulation Model. *Addiction (Abingdon, England)*, 107(2), 407–416.
- Nagelhout, G. E., Mons, U., Allwright, S., Guignard, R., Beck, F., Fong, G. T., Willemsen, M. C. (2011). Prevalence and predictors of smoking in "smokefree" bars. Findings from the International Tobacco Control (ITC) Europe Surveys. *Social Science & Medicine*, 72(10), 1643–1651.
- Nazar, G. P., Lee, J. T., Glantz, S. A., Arora, M., Pearce, N., Millett, C. (2014). Association between being employed in a smoke-free workplace and living in a smoke-free home: Evidence from 15 low and middle income countries. *Preventive Medicine*, 59, 47–53.
- Nguyen, H. V. (2013). Do smoke-free car laws work? Evidence from a quasiexperiment. *Journal of Health Economics*, 32(1), 138–148.
- Nonnemaker, J. M., Farrelly, M. C. (2011). Smoking initiation among youth: The role of cigarette excise taxes and prices by race/ethnicity and gender. *Journal* of Health Economics, 30(3), 560–567.
- Norman, G. J., Ribisl, K. M., Howard-Pitney, B., Howard, K. A. (1999). Smoking Bans in the Home and Car: Do Those Who Really Need Them Have Them? *Preventive Medicine*, 29(6), 581–589.
- Nusbaum, M.L., Gordon, M., Nusbaum, D., McCarthy, M.A, Vasilakis, D. (2000). Smoke alarm: a review of the clinical impact of smoking on women. *Primary Care Update for Ob/Gyns*, 7(5), 207–214.
- Nykiforuk, C., Campbell, S., Cameron, R., Brown, S., Eyles, J. (2007). Relationships between community characteristics and municipal smoke-free bylaw status and strength. *Health Policy (Amsterdam, Netherlands)*, 80(2), 358–368.
- Öberg, M., Jaakkola, M. S., Woodward, A., Peruga, A., Prüss-Ustün, A. (2011). Worldwide burden of disease from exposure to second-hand smoke: a

retrospective analysis of data from 192 countries. *The Lancet*, 377(9760), 139–146.

- Ockene, I. S., Miller, N. H. (1997). Cigarette Smoking, Cardiovascular Disease, and Stroke A Statement for Healthcare Professionals From the American Heart Association. *Circulation*, *96*(9), 3243–3247.
- Odukoya, O. O., Sekoni, A. (2013). Second hand smoke exposure and support for smoke-free workplaces among hotel workers in nigeria. *Respiratory Medicine*, 107, Supplement 1, 18.
- Okoli, C. T. C., Pederson, A., Rice, W. (2013). Support for a smoke-free bylaw in parks and on beaches. *Health Policy (Amsterdam, Netherlands)*, 111(2), 127– 134.
- Pereira, A. M., Morais-Almeida, M., Sá e Sousa, A., Jacinto, T., Azevedo, L. F., Robalo Cordeiro, C., Fonseca, J. A. (2013). Environmental tobacco smoke exposure at home and smoking prevalence in the general Portuguese population—The INAsma study. *Revista Portuguesa de Pneumologia* (*English Edition*), 19(3), 114–124.
- Peretti-Watel, P., L'haridon, O., Seror, V. (2012). Responses to increasing cigarette prices in France: How did persistent smokers react? *Health Policy*, *106*(2), 169–176.
- Pieroni, L., Daddi, P., Salmasi, L. (2013). Impact of Italian smoking ban on business activity of restaurants, cafés and bars. *Economics Letters*, *121*(1), 70–73.
- Public Health Institution of Turkey. (2014). *Global Adult Tobacco Survey of Turkey* 2012. Ankara.
- Pust, S., Mohnen, S. M., Schneider, S. (2008). Individual and social environment influences on smoking in children and adolescents. *Public Health*, 122(12), 1324–1330.
- Sasco, A. J., Secretan, M. B., Straif, K. (2004). Tobacco smoking and cancer: a brief review of recent epidemiological evidence. *Lung Cancer*, 45, Supplement 2, 3–9.
- Schairer, E., Schöniger, E. (2001). Lung cancer and tobacco consumption. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *30*(1), 24–27. doi:10.1093/ije/30.1.24
- Schulze, A., Mons, U., Edler, L., Pötschke-Langer, M. (2006). Lack of sustainable prevention effect of the "Smoke-Free Class Competition" on German pupils. *Preventive Medicine*, 42(1), 33–39.

- Schwaninger, M., Ulli-Beer, S., Kaufmann-Hayoz, R. (2008). Policy Analysis and Design in Local Public Management A System Dynamics Approach. *Handbook of Transdisciplinary Research*. Springer Netherlands.
- Smoking and Tobacco Use; 50th Anniversary Surgeon General's Report. (2014).
- Sterman, J., Sterman, J. D. (2000). *Business Dynamics: Systems Thinking and Modeling for a Complex World with CD-ROM*. Boston: McGraw-Hill/Irwin.
- Stewart, B. W., Kleihues, P. (2003). World Cancer Report. WHO.
- Strachan, D. P., Cook, D. G. (1998). Health effects of passive smoking. 6. Parental smoking and childhood asthma: longitudinal and case-control studies. *Thorax*, 53(3), 204–212.
- Sureda, X., Ballbè, M., Martínez, C., Fu, M., Carabasa, E., Saltó, E., Fernández, E. (2014). Impact of tobacco control policies in hospitals: Evaluation of a national smoke-free campus ban in Spain. *Preventive Medicine Reports*, 1, 56–61.
- Sureda, X., Fu, M., José López, M., Martínez-Sánchez, J. M., Carabasa, E., Saltó, E., Fernández, E. (2010). Second-hand smoke in hospitals in Catalonia (2009): A cross-sectional study measuring PM2.5 and vapor-phase nicotine. *Environmental Research*, 110(8), 750–755.
- Talhout, R., Schulz, T., Florek, E., van Benthem, J., Wester, P., Opperhuizen, A. (2011). Hazardous Compounds in Tobacco Smoke. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 8(2), 613–628.
- The Health Consequences of Smoking: Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease: A Report of the Surgeon General. (1984). [Official reports]. Retrieved December 7, 2014, from http://profiles.nlm.nih.gov/NN/B/C/C/S/
- Thomson, G., Russell, M., Jenkin, G., Patel, V., Wilson, N. (2013). Informing outdoor smokefree policy: Methods for measuring the proportion of people smoking in outdoor public areas. *Health & Place*, 20, 19–24.
- Thrasher, J. F., Rousu, M. C., Anaya-Ocampo, R., Reynales-Shigematsu, L. M., Arillo-Santillán, E., Hernández-Avila, M. (2007). Estimating the impact of different cigarette package warning label policies: the auction method. *Addictive Behaviors*, 32(12), 2916–2925.
- Tignor W. (2003). Stock and Flow, and Unified Modeling Language Relationships. Presented at the 21 System Dynamics Conference, New York: System Dynamics Society.

- Tong, E. K., Nguyen, T. T., Vittinghoff, E., Pérez-Stable, E. J. (2008). Smoking Behaviors Among Immigrant Asian Americans: Rules for Smoke-Free Homes. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 35(1), 64–67.
- Ueda, H., Armada, F., Kashiwabara, M., Yoshimi, I. (2011). Street smoking bans in Japan: A hope for smoke-free cities? *Health Policy*, 102(1), 49–55.
- Vaque, J., Salleras, L. (1986). The Use of Communication Media in a Programme Against Tobacco Smoking. In D. S. L. B. H. O. K. DAVIES (Ed.), *Health Education and the Media II* (pp. 117–121). Pergamon.
- Vaughn, M. S., Del Carmen, R. V. (1993). Smoke-free prisons: Policy dilemmas and constitutional issues. *Journal of Criminal Justice*, 21(2), 151–171.
- Ward, M., Currie, L. M., Kabir, Z., Clancy, L. (2013). The efficacy of different models of smoke-free laws in reducing exposure to second-hand smoke: A multi-country comparison. *Health Policy*, 110(2–3), 207–213.
- Wechsler, H., Lee, J. E., Rigotti, N. A. (2001). Cigarette use by college students in smoke-free housing: results of a national study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 20(3), 202–207.
- Yang, G.-H., Li, Q., Wang, C.-X., Hsia, J., Yang, Y., Xiao, L., Xie, L. (2010). Findings from 2010 Global Adult Tobacco Survey: implementation of MPOWER policy in China. *Biomedical and Environmental Sciences: BES*, 23(6), 422–429.

http://www.fph.org.uk/what_is_public_health Accessed 19.01.2015.

http://gamapserver.who.int/mapLibrary/app/searchResults.aspx Accessed 03.10.2014.

http://havanikoru.org.tr/ Accessed 15.10.2014.

http://www.jhsph.edu/about/what-is-public-health/ Accessed 19.01.2015.

http://www.anylogic.com/about-us Accessed 12.11.2014.

http://www.anylogic.com/anylogic/help/index.jsp?topic=/com.xj.anylogic.help/ Accessed 01.11.2014.

http://www.anylogic.com/system-dynamics Accessed 01.11.2014.

http://www.anylogic.com/use-of-simulation Accessed 29.10.2014.

http://mathandreadinghelp.org/math_help_extrapolation.html Accessed 19.01.2015.

http://www.mathworks.com/moler/interp.pdf Accessed 19.01.2015.

http://www.pire.org/internationalprojects.asp?cntry=Turkey Accessed 10.11.2014.

http://www.systemdynamics.org/what-is-s/Accessed 01.12.2014.

http://www.tapdk.gov.tr/tr/piyasa-duzenlemeleri/tutun-mamulleri-piyasasi/tutunmamulleri-istatistikleri.aspx Accessed 23.11.2014.

http://www.tobaccoatlas.org/products/types_of_tobacco_use/smokingandsmokeless/ Accessed 02.11.2014.

http://www.tobaccoatlas.org/solutions/rights_treaties/treaties_conventions_agree/ Accessed 02.11.2014.

http://www.tobaccocontrollaws.org/legislation/country/turkey/laws Accessed 03.11.2014.

http://www.who.int/fctc/about/en/ Accessed 21.10.2014.

http://www.who.int/fctc/signatories_parties/en/ Accessed 21.10.2014.

http://www.who.int/gho/tobacco/en/ Accessed 22.10.2014.

http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs339/en/ Accessed 20.10.2014.

http://www.who.int/tobacco/framework/background/en/ Accessed 20.10.2014.

http://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/en/ Accessed 22.10.2014.

http://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/publications/brochure_2013/en/ Accessed 03.12.2014.

http://www.who.int/tobacco/surveillance/survey/gats/en/ Accessed 27.11.2014.

http://www.who.int/tobacco/surveillance/survey/gats/turkey/en Accessed 23.11.2014.

http://www.who.int/topics/tobacco/en/ Accessed 01.10.2014.

APPENDICES

APPENDIX A. CURRENT TOBACCO CONTROL POLICY USAGE OF THE COUNTRIES



Figure A.1 Distribution of retail taxes on tobacco for countries, 2012 (http://gamapserver.who.int/mapLibrary/app/searchResults.asp)











Figure A.4 Anti-tobacco media campaigns applied with appropriate characteristics, 2012 (http://gamapserver.who.int/mapLibrary/app/searchResults.aspx)

APPENDIX B. COMPARISONS OF THE RESULTS OF GATS 2008 AND 2012 OF TURKEY

Table B.	1 Percentage	of adults \geq	15 years	old, b	by detailed	smoking	status	GATS
Turkey 2	008-2012 (Pu	blic Health	Institution	n of Tu	rkey, 2014	.)		

Smoking Status	2008	2012	Relative
	Percentage	Percentage	Change
Overall			
Current smoker	31.2	27.1	-13.44+
Daily smoker	27.4	23.8	-13.2+
Occasional smoker	3.8	3.3	-14.6+
Occasional smoker, formerly daily	1.8	1.5	-17.0+
Occasional smoker, never daily	2.0	1.8	-12.5+
Non-smoker	68.8	72.9	6.1+
Former daily smoker	10.5	9.4	-10.1+
Never daily smoker	58.2	63.5	9.0+
Former occasional smoker	5.4	3.7	-31.4+
Never smoker	68.8	59.8	13.1+

Note: Current use includes both daily and occasional (less than daily) use; relative change (%) calculated by [(estimate of 2012 – estimate of 2008) / estimate of 2008]*100

+ p<0.05

Table B.2 Percentage of adults ≥ 15 years old who made a quit attempt in the past 12 months, by selected demographic characteristics, GATS 2008, 2012 of Turkey (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014)

Demographic	Made Quit Attempt						
Characteristics	2008 (%)	2012 (%)	Relative Change				
			(%)				
Overall	44.8	46.0	2.8				
Gender							
Male	44.1	45.1	2.4				
Female	46.9	48.8	4.1				
Age(years)							
15-24	52.3	40.2	-23.2+				
25-44	42.7	48.3	13.1+				
45-64	44.2	44.8	1.4				
65+	40.6	47.1	16.0				
Residence							
Urban	44.7	46.5	4.2				
Rural	45.1	44.3	-1.8				
Education Level							
Not graduated	35.0	44.1	26.0				
Primary	44.6	46.9	5.3				
Secondary	44.9	43.3	-3.4				
High school	48.0	47.4	-1.2				
University	45.8	46.0	0.5				

Note: Relative change (%) calculated by [(estimate of 2012 – estimate of 2008) / estimate of 2008]*100

+ p < 0.05

Demographic	Health Care Provider Assitance							
Characteristics	2008		20	12	Relative Change			
	Asked by HCP if a smoker ²	Advised to quit by HCP ³	Asked by HCP if a smoker ²	Advised to quit by HCP ³	Asked by HCP if a smoker ²	Advised to quit by HCP ³		
Overall	49.0	40.7	51.4	42.9	4.9	5.3		
Gender								
Male	49.1	42.2	49.1	41.3	0.0	-2.2		
Female	48.8	38.0	56.3	46.4	15.4+	22.2+		
Age(years)								
15-24	42.0	33.3	38.1	33.3	-9.3	-0.3		
25-44	45.8	36.0	50.6	40.0	10.4	11.3		
45-64	57.7	51.5	57.7	50.5	0.0	-1.9		
65+	60.2	59.5	64.5	63.1	7.2	6.0		
Residence								
Urban	50.6	42.0	52.8	43.8	4.4	4.1		
Rural	44.0	36.5	45.7	39.4	4.1	8.1		
Education Level								
Not graduated	50.4	44.7	50.0	43.4	-1.0	-3.1		
Primary	48.1	41.3	52.0	43.7	8.2	5.9		
Secondary	53.0	42.4	45.5	37.7	-14.1	-11.1		
High school	46.6	36.8	50.1	41.9	7.6	13.7		
University	51.4	42.3	59.8	48.7	16.3	15.1		

Table B.3 Percentage of adults \geq 15 years old who received health care provider assistance in the past 12 months, by selected demographic characteristics, GATS 2008, 2012 of Turkey (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014)

 2 Among current smokers and former smokers who have been abstinent for less than 12 months, and who visited a HCP during the past 12 months

³ Among current smokers and former smokers who have been abstinent for less than 12 months, and who visited a HCP during the past 12 months and asked by HCP if a smoker

Note: Relative change (%) calculated by [(estimate of 2012 – estimate of 2008) / estimate of 2008]*100; + p<0.05

Demographic	Health Care Provider Assistance							
Characteristics	2008		20	012	Relative Change			
	Pharmacotherapy	Counseling/Advice	Pharmacotherapy	Counseling/Advice	Pharmacotherapy	Counseling/Advice		
Overall	9.3	1.8	13.6	8.0	45.9+	335.5+		
Gender								
Male	9.4	1.7	13.3	7.5	41.4+	341.6+		
Female	9.1	2.2	14.5	9.5	59.1+	324.5+		
Age(years)								
15-24	9.8	0.8	10.2	4.0	4.4	415.4		
25-44	9.2	1.3	13.6	8.6	48.0+	559.2+		
45-64	9.9	3.6	16.4	8.7	65.6	140.8		
65+	4.1	4.8	9.0	10.5	121.8	116.1		
Residence								
Urban	10.4	2.4	14.4	8.4	38.8+	258.4+		
Rural	6.4	0.4	10.8	6.6	68.1	1406		
Education Level								
Not graduated	1.8	0.3	13.0	1.1	607.2	241.7		
Primary	8.6	1.8	16.4	10.0	89.6+	467.0+		
Secondary	8.6	0.9	9.6	5.8	11.0	546.7		
High school	12.2	2.0	13.3	8.8	9.1	329.5+		
University	11.1	4.4	12.8	6.9	15.9	58.5		

Table B.4 Percentage of adults \geq 15 years old who made a quit attempt in the past 12 months and used various cessation methods for their last attempt, by selected demographic characteristics, GATS 2008, 2012 of Turkey (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014)

HCP=Health care provider

Note: Relative change (%) calculated by [(estimate of 2012 – estimate of 2008) / estimate of 2008]*100; + p<0.05

Table B.5 Percentage of adults \geq 15 years old who noticed anti-tobacco information during the last 30 days in various places, by selected demographic characteristics, GATS 2008, 2012 of Turkey (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014)

Smoking Status	2008	2012	Relative
	Percentage	Percentage	Change
Overall			
In newspapers or in magazines	46.3	41.1	-11.3+
On television or the radio	86.1	92.0	6.9+
On television	85.5	91.4	6.9+
On radio	23.0	25.2	9.6
On billboards	36.0	29.9	-16.8+
Somewhere else	4.5	2.6	-43.2+
Any location	88.8	93.5	5.3+
Male			
In newspapers or in magazines	53.7	45.9	-14.6
On television or the radio	86.2	92.3	7.1+
On television	85.5	91.6	7.0+
On radio	23.7	26.8	13.1+
On billboards	40.7	32.4	-20.3+
Somewhere else	5.3	2.7	-49.0+
Any location	89.9	94.1	4.7+
Female			
In newspapers or in magazines	39.2	36.5	-7.0
On television or the radio	86.1	91.8	6.6+
On television	85.4	91.2	6.8+
On radio	22.3	23.7	6.1
On billboards	31.4	27.4	-12.6
Somewhere else	3.8	2.5	-35.5+
Any location	87.8	92.9	5.8+

Table B.5 (cont.) Percentage of adults ≥ 15 years old who noticed anti-tobacco information during the last 30 days in various places, by selected demographic characteristics, GATS 2008, 2012 of Turkey (Public Health Institution of Turkey, 2014)

Smoking Status	2008	2012	Relative Change
	Percentage	Percentage	
15-24			
In newspapers or in magazines	51.5	42.8	-16.9+
On television or the radio	87.0	91.7	5.4+
On television	85.8	91.1	6.2+
On radio	24.4	24.8	1.5
On billboards	42.9	32.1	-25.1+
Somewhere else	6.2	2.9	-52.5+
Any location	91.3	93.7	2.6+
25+			
In newspapers or in magazines	44.8	40.6	-9.4+
On television or the radio	85.9	92.2	7.3+
On television	85.4	91.5	7.1+
On radio	22.6	25.4	12.2+
On billboards	34.0	29.3	-13.8+
Somewhere else	4.1	2.5	-39.0+
Any location	88.1	93.4	6.0+
Urban			
In newspapers or in magazines	51.0	44.9	-11.9
On television or the radio	86.9	92.7	6.7+
On television	86.1	92.0	6.9+
On radio	25.5	27.5	7.8
On billboards	40.2	33.8	-15.9+
Somewhere else	5.4	3.2	-41.9+
Any location	89.9	94.2	4.8+
Rural			
In newspapers or in magazines	35.7	31.5	-11.9+
On television or the radio	84.5	90.3	6.9+
On television	84.1	89.8	6.7+
On radio	17.2	19.3	12.2
On billboards	26.1	19.8	-24.2+
Somewhere else	2.5	1.1	-55.9+
Any location	86.4	91.7	6.2+

Note: Relative change (%) calculated by [(estimate of 2012 – estimate of 2008) / estimate of 2008]*100; + p<0.05